

# Assessing Technologies to Accelerate the Process of Monitoring, Reporting, and Verifying Emission Reductions Programs

Report for the Next Generation of Monitoring, Reporting, and Verification of Land Use Emission Reductions Programs ASA (P178735)



©2025 International Bank for Reconstruction and Development / The World Bank 1818 H Street NW Washington DC 20433 Telephone: 202-473-1000 Internet: www.worldbank.org

This work is a product of the staff of The World Bank with external contributions. The findings, interpretations, and conclusions expressed in this work do not necessarily reflect the views of The World Bank, its Board of Executive Directors, or the governments they represent.

The World Bank does not guarantee the accuracy, completeness, or currency of the data included in this work and does not assume responsibility for any errors, omissions, or discrepancies in the information, or liability with respect to the use of or failure to use the information, methods, processes, or conclusions set forth. The boundaries, colors, denominations, links/footnotes and other information shown in this work do not imply any judgment on the part of The World Bank concerning the legal status of any territory or the endorsement or acceptance of such boundaries. The citation of works authored by others does not mean the World Bank endorses the views expressed by those authors or the content of their works.

Nothing herein shall constitute or be construed or considered to be a limitation upon or waiver of the privileges and immunities of The World Bank, all of which are specifically reserved.

#### **Rights and Permissions**

The material in this work is subject to copyright. Because The World Bank encourages dissemination of its knowledge, this work may be reproduced, in whole or in part, for noncommercial purposes as long as full attribution to this work is given.

Any queries on rights and licenses, including subsidiary rights, should be addressed to World Bank Publications, The World Bank Group, 1818 H Street NW, Washington, DC 20433, USA; fax: 202-522-2625; e-mail: pubrights@worldbank.org.

Cover photo: © Lisha Riabinina/Unsplash

### Assessing Technologies to Accelerate the Process of Monitoring, Reporting, and Verifying Emission Reductions Programs

Report for the Next Generation of Monitoring, Reporting, and Verification of Land Use Emission Reductions Programs ASA (P178735)

Naikoa Aguilar-Amuchastegui,<sup>1</sup> Lucas Gregory Belenky,<sup>1</sup> Andrew Burt,<sup>2</sup> Catalina Becerra Leal,<sup>1</sup> Gustavo Galindo,<sup>3</sup> Maria Fernanda Jaramillo Botero,<sup>4</sup> Norman Kiesslich,<sup>5</sup> Ryan Matteson,<sup>6</sup> Jose Maria Michel Fuentes,<sup>1</sup> Ellie Peneva-Reed,<sup>1</sup> Beisit Luz Puma Vilca,<sup>2</sup> Natalie Sanchez,<sup>6</sup> Muri Soares,<sup>7</sup> Hercilo Odorico,<sup>7</sup> Nicholas Osterbur,<sup>8</sup> Martin Perez Lara,<sup>4</sup> Juan Turriago,<sup>3</sup> and Andres B. Espejo.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> World Bank Climate Change Group Climate Change Funds Mobilization Unit (SCCFM)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Sylvera

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Institute of Hydrology, Meteorology and Environmental Studies (IDEAM)

<sup>4</sup> World Wildlife Fund

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> <u>GeoVille</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> <u>California Polytechnic University</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Mozambique Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development (FNDS)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Amazon Web Services

### Acknowledgments

This report was financed by the Forest Carbon Partnership Facility (FCPF). FCPF is a global partnership of governments, businesses, civil society, and Indigenous Peoples focused on reducing emissions from deforestation and forest degradation, forest carbon stock conservation, the sustainable management of forests, and the enhancement of forest carbon stocks in developing countries, activities commonly referred to as REDD+.

This report leveraged the World Bank's ongoing collaborations with (1) the European Space Agency (ESA) on the Global Development Assistance program (formerly EO4SD), (2) California Polytechnic University's Digital Transformation Hub, and (3) Sylvera's ongoing program of collecting high-quality volumetric data.

The authors thank the following reviewers for their helpful feedback: Fabio Cian, Operations Officer, Global Unit for Disaster and Climate Risk Management (IDURM), World Bank; Nagaraja Rao Harshadeep, Lead Environmental Specialist, SENCR, World Bank; Tuukka Castren, Senior Forestry Specialist, SENGL, World Bank; Tomas Harvey, Manager, the Global Forest Observations Initiative; and Ann Howard, Senior Director, Validation and Verification, National Accreditation Board, American National Standards Institute.







### Table of Contents

| Lists of Boxes, Figures, Tables, Maps, and Photos                                  | vi |
|--|----|
| List of Acronyms and Abbreviations   | ix |
| Report Highlights  | Х  |
| I. CONTEXT   | 11 |
| Background   | 11 |
| Objectives   | 13 |
| Theory of Change   | 14 |
| II. IMPLEMENTATION   | 16 |
| High-Quality In Situ Data  | 17 |
| Biomass Cloud Computing  | 18 |
| Digital Data Architecture  | 19 |
| III. DIGITAL ARCHITECTURE SOLUTIONS  | 22 |
| Simple Storage Service   | 23 |
| Modeling Test  | 25 |
| Analysis of the Proposed Data Architecture   | 26 |
| Challenges of Data Processing Solutions during the Verification Stage              | 27 |
| Inefficiencies Based on the Method of Communication                                | 28 |
| Proposed Reporting Hub   | 29 |
| IV. CONCLUSION   |    |
| Lessons Learned  |    |
| Recommendations  | 33 |
| Appendix A. High-Quality Field Data Collection Exercise                            | 35 |
| Appendix B. Analysis and Discussion of High-Quality Field Data Collection Exercise | 56 |
| REFERENCES   | 63 |

### Lists of Boxes, Figures, Tables, Maps, and Photos

### Boxes

| 1. | Reported challenges of existing MRV process for emission reductions programs           | 12 |
|----|--|----|
| 2. | Technologies to accelerate existing monitoring, reporting, and verification processes1 | 13 |
| З. | Digital data architecture1   | 19 |
| 4. | Proposed online reporting hub  | 30 |

### Figures

| 1.  | The existing monitoring, reporting, and verification cycle  | 15          |
|-----|---|-------------|
| 2.  | Schematic of technologies tested  | 16          |
| 3.  | The core features of a data lake  | 22          |
| 4.  | Example of a simple storage service web interface   | 23          |
| 5.  | Example of Amazon Web Service's Clean Rooms interface   | 24          |
| 6.  | Example of a digital interface enabling secure computational capacity (uTile)   | 25          |
| 7.  | Model interface showcasing the identified solutions   | 26          |
| A1. | Example of a plot stem map  | 36          |
| A2. | Example of a terrestrial laser scanning point cloud   | 38          |
| A3. | Steps in constructing the external 3D representation of each tree   | 38          |
| A4. | Comparison of TLS– and allometric-derived estimates of above-ground biomass for the 1,226 living across GIL01-01 to GIL06-01  | trees<br>40 |
| A5. | Point clouds from terrestrial laser scanning and airborne laser scanning  | 42          |
| A6. | Spatial cross-validation of predicted above-ground biomass vs reference terrestrial laser scanning estimates  | 45          |
| A7. | Upscaling above-ground biomass estimates from terrestrial laser scanning to unmanned aerial vehiclaser scanning to aerial laser scanning  | cle<br>47   |
| A8. | Spatial cross-validation of above-ground biomass predictions derived from aerial laser scanning compared with reference estimates derived from unmanned aerial vehicle laser scanning | 48          |
| A9. | Scatter plot showing agreement of actual vs predicted above-ground biomass values   | 54          |
| B1. | Comparing U-net model estimates with national forest inventory estimates for Mozambique's emist reductions program area   | sion<br>62  |

### **Tables**

| A1. | Above-ground biomass estimates derived through terrestrial laser scanning, including density and<br>uncertainty levels | 39 |
|-----|--|----|
| A2. | Allometric equations used to assess the accuracy of the estimates of above-ground biomass                              | 40 |
| A3. | Unmanned aerial vehicle and aerial laser metrics describing forest structure   | 42 |
| A4. | Statistics from the final tuned model  | 45 |

| A5.  | Above-ground biomass estimates from unmanned aerial vehicle laser scanning, including density and uncertainty                         | 46  |
|------|---|-----|
| A6.  | Statistics of the final tuned model   | .47 |
| A7.  | Above-ground biomass from aerial laser scanning, including density and uncertainty, for the region of interest.                       | 49  |
| A8.  | Summary of data sources acquired for use with statistical analysis and model development  | .51 |
| A9.  | Descriptive statistics for modeling outputs derived from pixels within the airborne laser scanning mapping region of interest         | 54  |
| A10. | Performance of ASA model in upscaling biomass estimates to emission reductions program area compared with other global biomass models | 55  |
| B1.  | CALM's scoring criteria for assessing the readiness of technologies for deployment  | 59  |
|      |   |     |

### Maps

| 1.  | Satellite imagery indicating the one-hectare and 300-hectare sections in the region of interest in Zambezia, Mozambique       | 18  |
|-----|---|-----|
| A1. | Location of high-quality field data collection exercise   | .35 |
| A2. | Above-ground biomass map overlaid on satellite imagery  | .39 |
| A3. | A selection of metrics derived from the unmanned aerial vehicle laser scanning data collected across GILO2                    | .43 |
| A4. | Estimated above-ground biomass in the region of interest within<br>Gilé National Reserve, Zambezia, Mozambique                | .49 |
| A5. | Uncertainty of above-ground biomass estimates in the region of interest within<br>Gilé National Reserve, Zambezia, Mozambique | .50 |
| A6. | Estimated above-ground biomass in the emission reductions program area of East Zambezia,<br>Mozambique                        | .52 |
| A7. | Uncertainty of above-ground biomass estimates in the emission reductions program area of Eastern Zambezia, Mozambique         | .53 |

### Photos

| A1. | Terrestrial laser scanning data collection in GIL01-01            | 36 |
|-----|---|----|
| B1. | TLS data collection   | 56 |
| B2. | Measuring the diameter of trees at breast height                  | 57 |
| B3. | Airborne LiDAR  | 60 |
| B4. | Hybrid drone used as unmanned aerial vehicle for data acquisition | 61 |

### List of Acronyms and Abbreviations

| ASA   | Advisory Services and Analytics (World Bank)   |
|-------|--|
| CALM  | Criteria to Consistently Assess Levels of Maturity (Global Forest Observations Initiative) |
| CUA   | concepts under assessment  |
| ERP   | emission reductions program  |
| ESA   | European Space Agency  |
| FCPF  | Forest Carbon Partnership Facility (World Bank)  |
| FNDS  | Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development (Mozambique)                                 |
| GDA   | Global Development Assistance  |
| ha    | hectare(s)   |
| IDEAM | Institute of Hydrology, Meteorology, and Environmental Studies (Colombia)                  |
| ISFL  | BioCarbon Fund Initiative for Sustainable Forest Landscapes                                |
| Lidar | light detection and ranging (remote sensing technology)                                    |
| m     | meters   |
| MRV   | measurement, reporting, and verification   |
| мт    | metric tons  |
| NDVI  | normalized difference vegetation index   |
| QSM   | quantitative structural model  |
| REDD+ | Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation                               |
| RMSE  | root mean square error   |
| S3    | simple storage service   |
| SAR   | synthetic aperture radar (remote sensing technology)                                       |
| SCALE | Scaling Climate Action by Lowering Emissions (World Bank)                                  |

### **REPORT HIGHIGHTS**

### **The Problem**

In jurisdictional scale REDD+ programs, such as those under the World Bank's Forest Carbon Partnership Facility (FCPF) and BioCarbon Fund Initiative for Sustainable Forest Landscapes (ISFL), the process of establishing baselines and collecting and processing data estimates (measurement), reporting on carbon emission reductions (reporting), and verifying and certifying reported results (verification) takes too long.

#### **Key Issues**

This Advisory Services Analytics (ASA) report assesses potential technologies to expedite the measurement, reporting, and verification (MRV) process for jurisdictional scale REDD+ programs, focusing on innovative tools to improve efficiency, accuracy, scalability, and ultimately timing.

**Challenges of the MRV Process.** Under REDD+ programs, the current MRV process is lengthy and complex, leading to delays and additional uncertainties in verification of emission reductions and access to climate finance.

**Highlighted Challenges.** Key challenges include inconsistent methods across countries, high costs and long timeframes, and over-reliance on optical imagery (via satellite).

**Measuring Emission Factors.** Challenges in measuring emission factors include logistical and cost issues with collecting field data, limited spatial coverage, and variability in data quality.

**Activity Data Collection Issues.** Satellite optical data has limitations, such as cloud cover, dependency on daylight, and seasonal variability, causing delays in producing activity data.

**Data Integration Complexities.** Integrating activity data with emission factors is complex and involves challenges in collecting, storing, and manipulating data, and in complying with reporting standards.

**Reporting and Verification Delays.** Traditional methods for collecting and reporting data are timeconsuming, with significant delays in presenting monitoring reports and issuing emission reductions credits.

#### **Suggested Solutions**

**Technological Solutions.** Suggested solutions include data management tools to reduce the MRV time cycle, and technologies—such as LiDAR, SAR, and high-resolution satellite imagery—to improve consistency, accuracy, and precision.

**Innovative Data Collection Methods.** New methods include terrestrial laser scanning, unmanned laser scanning, and airborne laser scanning to collect high-quality, in situ data and improve biomass estimation.

**Digital Data Architecture.** A centralized cloud service with decentralized "data lake" platforms has potential to solve the challenges associated with integrating data.

### Recommendations

The simplest opportunity for expediting MRV processes in REDD+ programs is the incorporation of technologies to expedite reporting, validation, and verification processes. Off-the-shelf digital technologies are also readily available to enhance measurement procedures; however, the implementation of these technologies requires careful consideration of existing systems, transparency, and alignment with country-specific needs to ensure sustainability and efficiency.

It is recommended that entities intending to adopt new MRV methodologies (for example, standards setters and government agencies) develop a policy—informed by the Global Forest Observations Initiative's Criteria to Consistently Assess Levels of Maturity (CALM) framework—for assessing and incorporating technology and enabling its meaningful and impactful use. This could involve enabling exploration exercises, such as those combining the acquisition of terrestrial laser scanning data and tree- and plot-level biomass estimations, and elaborating the path toward sound assimilation of novel technologies into the MRV process.

# I. CONTEXT

### Background

The World Bank (2021b) policy brief Policy Paths towards Second-Generation Measurement, Reporting and Verification (MRV 2.0) revealed that the measurement, reporting, and verification (MRV) cycle under the Forest Carbon Partnership Facility (FCPF) and BioCarbon Fund Initiative for Sustainable Forest Landscapes (ISFL) takes too long. Based on the findings reported in World Bank (2021a), the brief states that the process is prolonged, in many cases requiring years to become functional even in countries with substantial technical capacities. Once operational, the process relies on a complex measuring system that generates uncertainty in both how to use it and how to verify results. In addition, lengthy and complex procedures are required to integrate remote sensing data with in situ field measurements, which hinders stakeholders' ability to address the drivers of greenhouse gas emissions effectively and causes delays in the ability of potential recipients to apply for and access climate finance.

Some of the main challenges highlighted in the brief include (1) lack of methodological consistency and comparability across countries; (2) high costs and overly long timeframes, exacerbated by low levels of accuracy; and (3) overreliance on optical satellite imagery. To address these challenges, findings suggested the introduction of data management tools to enhance efficiency and scalability, thereby reducing the time needed to implement the MRV cycle from years to a matter of months. In addition, the findings suggested ways to facilitate monitoring using technologies capable of improving consistency, accuracy, and precision, specifically including LiDAR (light detection and ranging, which is a form of remote sensing using a pulsed laser to measure variable distances to the Earth to generate 3D images); synthetic aperture radar (SAR), used to create two- or three-dimensional images of objects, such as landscapes; and high-resolution satellite imagery (Box 1).

These MRV issues can have serious implications for countries aiming to receive result-based payments. The delay between the generation of emission reductions and their issuance and payment would be significant, creating a disincentive for countries and communities to take action because their efforts would not be immediately rewarded. Additionally, such a time lag could lead buyers to perceive that the emission reductions are "old," causing payments to be significantly discounted and countries to receive lower levels of carbon finance.

Box 1. Reported challenges of existing MRV process for emission reductions programs

### **Measurement Challenges**

#### **Emission Factors**

Emission factors are estimates of the rate at which a given activity releases greenhouse gases into the atmosphere. They are traditionally produced using inventory data collected in the field, which presents logistical and cost challenges—especially in remote or difficult-to-access areas—in addition to concerns about the quality and representativeness of estimates, which can impede the issuance of emission reduction credits. These challenges negatively affect programs as they prepare initial monitoring reports and work to improve, and reduce uncertainty about, the accuracy of the estimates. Ground-based measurement methods limit spatial coverage and may not provide a comprehensive picture of forest carbon stocks across large landscapes. This limitation can lead to gaps in data coverage and fewer accurate estimates. Moreover, the quality and consistency of data collected through traditional methods can vary depending on field personnel's skills and experience. This variability can affect the reliability of carbon stock estimates.

#### **Activity Data**

Optical satellite data is limited by cloud cover, lack of daylight, and seasonal weather variability, and it also has limited temporal resolution (that is, the amount of time needed to revisit and acquire data for the exact same location), all of which causes time lags in the production of activity data. On average, the best-case scenario indicates that a program needs at least six months from the end of the reporting period to collect, prepare, analyze, and report activity data.

#### **Data Integration**

To produce emission estimates, activity data needs to be linked with emission factors. This integration creates complexities in terms of data collection, storage, and manipulation, as well as in developing estimates and complying with reporting standards during the auditing process.

#### **Reporting and Verification**

Using traditional methods to collect data, report results, and verify emission reductions is timeconsuming—the median being 24 months for programs to present their first monitoring reports, and an additional 12 months to validate, verify, and ultimately issue emission reductions credits. All of this has negative impacts on access to results-based climate finance. Even in cases where measurement estimates have been elaborated well, documenting the process to meet different reporting frameworks requires substantial additional processing and formatting, which contributes to inefficiencies. In addition, reporting frameworks require occasional updates that are difficult to disseminate and can cause delays in the preparation of monitoring reports, which in turn often lack supporting documentation and evidence to justification for the values, equations, and assumptions used to report emission reductions.

#### Source: World Bank (2021).

**Notes:** To guarantee climate integrity in accounting, MRV standards—such as those used by FCPF and ISFL—apply discount factors to reported emissions based on "estimates of uncertainty," a conservative approach that ensures emission reductions or removals are not overestimated.

### Objectives

The objective of this Advisory Services and Analytics (ASA) study was to identify and introduce recent technology as a solution to the challenges of the existing MRV processes, as outlined in the previous section, and to assess the capacity and "readiness" of these innovative technologies to meet this objective. The ultimate goal was to provide proof of concept for a next-generation MRV process (MRV 2.0) and to ensure that the conclusions drawn could be generalized and transferred across differing countries contexts (Box 2).

#### Box 2. Technologies to accelerate existing monitoring, reporting, and verification processes

#### **Measurement Technologies**

Directly estimating biomass through remote sensing could expedite existing measurement procedures. This ASA study addressed previously encountered major hurdles to directly estimating biomass. World Bank (2021a) identifies one of the main gaps in forest measurements to be lack of sufficient high-quality in situ data, whether in digital or other form. This is key because such data serve as the basis for all estimations of biomass in MRV processes. Ideally, field data should be collected periodically as part of a national forest inventory using unbiased statistical methods to deliver unbiased biomass estimates. Currently, national forest inventory data are used to estimate biomass using field parameters that correlate with biomass using allometric equations a developed via destructive sampling (that is, invasive methods that alter or destroy specimens). Allometric equations have been identified as one of the major sources of uncertainty in biomass estimates. Correlations of biomass with data from satellite-based remote sensing technologies (synthetic aperture radar [SAR] and light detection and ranging [LiDAR]) by means of artificial intelligence (support vector machines, convolutional neural networks) and geostatistics (Kriging, an interpolation method) were suggested as promising technologies to help overcome this shortfall in information on biomass.

#### **Reporting and Verification Technologies**

A potential solution to resolving challenges related to data integration was determined to be a centralized cloud service combined with a decentralized, multipurpose "data lake," which is a centralized repository of large volumes of raw data stored in its native format until it is needed (see Section 3, Digital Architecture Solutions, including Figure 3).

#### Source: Authors based on World Bank (2021b).

<sup>a</sup> Allometric equations allow biomass to be estimated at the tree level built on correlations between variables measured in national forest inventories, such as the diameter of the tree stem at breast height or the ratio of height to biomass. Allometric equations are built by performing destructive sampling to determine estimates of their measurements and dry biomass. Developing such equations is very difficult, and their representativeness is limited, particularly for large trees based on a natural reluctance to include them in samples despite the high shares of biomass they represent in mature forests.

### Theory of Change

The following assumptions and hypothesis underpinned the plan to create a second-generation MRV process.

### Assumptions

- 1. New developments in technology can improve the capacity to deliver timely estimations of and changes in carbon stocks—importantly, with improved accuracy.
- 2. The technological developments referred to include new possibilities for directly estimating biomass, which is an essential climate variable that both informs direct estimates of changes in carbon stocks and affects other essential climate variables, such as land cover.
- 3. New satellites and the falling costs of airborne data will promote unprecedented data availability, in turn enhancing direct biomass estimations.
- 4. The combination of innovative approaches and increased availability of data is expected to overcome several major challenges to estimating carbon stocks through the following means:
  - Enabling carbon stocks to be measured with greater frequency (less than one year)
  - Standardizing the estimation of carbon stocks to make data from various sources compatible and easily able to be integrated, while also allowing uncertainties to be quantified
  - Decreasing the time needed to generate, report, and verify estimates because MRV systems become operational within months rather than years, significantly reducing the time lag for data to become available after completion of the monitoring period

### Hypothesis

Combining various available technologies—including new remote sensing data, geostatistics, and cloud computing—will expedite FCPF's and ISFL's MRV cycle, thereby unlocking the carbon credits that carbon finance stakeholders and countries require to be able to deliver climate change mitigation targets (Figure 1).



### Figure 1. The existing monitoring, reporting, and verification cycle

Source: Devised by authors.

**Notes:** The current monitoring, reporting, and verification (MRV) cycle under which reporting is expected within 45 days of the end of the monitoring period actually takes much longer. Median times currently stand at 24 months. This study sought to explore alternative solutions to drastically reduce this timeframe in the next-generation MRV for land use ERPs.

# II. IMPLEMENTATION

To assess their viability and desirability prior to scaling, technologies were selected for each phase of the MRV cycle (Figure 2). To implement each technology, the ASA leveraged the World Bank's ongoing collaborations with (1) the European Space Agency (ESA) on the Global Development Assistance program<sup>9</sup> (formerly EO4SD<sup>10</sup>), (2) California Polytechnic University's Digital Transformation Hub,<sup>11</sup> and (3) Sylvera's ongoing program of collecting high-quality volumetric data.<sup>12</sup> This approach significantly alleviated the cost of implementing the proof of concept. Each goal and its associated technological solution is outlined below.



#### Figure 2. Schematic of technologies tested

**Notes:** The red box shows the schematic for measuring high-quality field data collected using terrestrial laser scanning (TLS). The green box shows the schematic for measuring biomass cloud computing, upscaled using airborne LiDAR (remote sensing), satellite data, and state-of-the-art modeling. The dark blue box shows the schematic for measuring and reporting digital data architecture. The pale blue box shows the schematic for the complete monitoring, reporting, and verification cycle. EO = Earth observation; ER = emission reductions; FCPF = Forest Carbon Partnership Facility; GHG = greenhouse gas; ISFL = BioCarbon Fund Initiative for Sustainable Forest Landscapes; QA/QC = quality assurance/quality control.

- <sup>10</sup> <u>https://eo4sd.esa.int/</u>
- <sup>11</sup> <u>https://dxhub.calpoly.edu/</u>
- <sup>12</sup> https://www.sylvera.com/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> <u>https://gda.esa.int/</u>

### High-Quality In Situ Data

Lack of high-quality in situ data used to calibrate estimates is a major problem when elaborating remote sensing-based estimates. National forest inventories—which are usually the source of such data—are costly and difficult to implement. This has led practitioners to seek publicly available remote sensing data that correlates with the structural parameters of forests (for example, in terms of canopy height) and hence also with biomass. National forest inventory plots, however, are not conceived with the goal of obtaining remote sensing data. As a result, even in cases where plot samples are optimally designed and implemented, national forest inventory measurement cycles don't align with MRV reporting cycles. Additionally, issues arise in extrapolating plot-level estimates to "wall-to-wall" maps—in which every pixel represents an individual estimate—from challenges that include lack of representation of forest diversity, poor correlation between biomass and remotely sensed parameters, bias in estimates due to spatial autocorrelation in remote sensing data, model bias, and lack of consensus on how to quantify uncertainties associated with results. These problems are further compounded in the auditing phase.

This study explored the use of a state-of-the-art collection of high-quality in situ datasets, following best practices<sup>13</sup> to inform biomass estimates derived through remote sensing. The intention was to circumvent (1) the challenge of extrapolating data coverage from plot-level to satellite-level (for example, for the entire ERP area) and (2) the limitations of using allometric equations to estimate biomass from national forest inventories. The ASA also explored a novel method of creating data synergies within a 50,000-hectare (ha) region of interest. It was expected that these processes would improve the accuracy and bias of estimates so they could be extrapolated to the larger ERP area with the support of colleagues from Sylvera.

The new technological approaches included the following:

- 1. A terrestrial inventory of six one-hectare plots combining terrestrial laser scanning (TLS) with traditional methods to overcome biases and the lack of representativeness of allometric equations (Figure 2, red box)
- 2. Data collected using unmanned aerial vehicle laser scanning (UAV-LS) over six 300-ha sections, each encompassing the one-ha plots described in point 1
- 3. Data collected through airborne laser scanning (ALS) across 50,000 ha of forest encompassing both the one-ha plots described in Point 1 and the 300-ha sections described in Point 2 (Figure 2, green box)

The goal of this approach was to cross-reference, exploit synergies, and increase the accuracy of data by taking multiple measurements of the same and expanded areas using multiple means.<sup>14</sup> In short, data were scaled from the six one-ha plots to the six 300-ha sections and ultimately to the 50,000-ha region of interest. A fuller, step-by-step description of the high-quality field data collection exercise conducted in the ERP area of the Zambezia region of Mozambique is provided in Appendix A; detailed analysis and discussion of the exercise is provided in Appendix B.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> <u>https://forestplots.net/</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> This new generation of data collection was implemented in collaboration with Sylvera and the Mozambique government. The Forest Biomass Reference System for Tree-by-Tree Inventory Data provided support to ensure that the methodology aligned with the validation protocol and that the data could be integrated into the forestplots.net network and support the development of data-sharing arrangements.

Map 1. Satellite imagery indicating the one-hectare and 300-hectare sections in the region of interest in Zambezia, Mozambique



Source of satellite imagery: Maxar Technologies (2018).

**Notes:** The maps depict the six 300-ha sections in blue (GIL01 to GIL06) and the six one-ha plots in red (GIL01-01 to GIL06-06) overlaid on satellite imagery.

### **Biomass Cloud Computing**

As a second step toward improving data quality—in this case, within the ERP of Zambezia, Mozambique, currently being implemented by FCPF—the study explored how to improve the integration of the high-quality data collected in the 50,000-ha region of interest with readily available global datasets from optical and active sensors (collected within one year), such as SAR and LiDAR (using GEDI data),<sup>15</sup> which could be used to expedite the monitoring of biomass changes. The models tested included combined prediction and uncertainty techniques from different fields, such as artificial intelligence and geostatistics (implemented in collaboration with ESA through its partner GeoVille<sup>16</sup> and the Mozambique government.)

<sup>15</sup> <u>https://gedi.umd.edu/</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> <u>https://www.geoville.com/</u>

### **Digital Data Architecture**

The third step targeted a cloud-based data platform through which data could be stored, accessed, and processed for the purpose of generating, revising, and validating estimates (Box 3). The focus was exploring available alternatives for developing infrastructure for cloud computing based on a client-server model. This approach emphasized data hosting; linkages to data processing; documentation of models; and estimates of emissions, emission reductions, and their associated uncertainty levels.

Once the implementation of the three technological approaches was finalized, a three-day workshop was held with all team members in collaboration with the World Wildlife Fund to identify both lessons learned and resulting recommendations. The methods used reconstructed the ASA study's implementation from conception to delivery of results, emphasizing (1) the identification of successes and failures and (2) the analysis of the failures, informed by both the ASA results and team members' extensive experience as MRV experts. The results of the workshop discussions—as well as those held with key partners, stakeholders, and leaders in forest-related MRV—inform the lessons learned and recommendations presented in this report.

#### Box 3. Digital data architecture

The ASA study brought key stakeholders in the monitoring, reporting, and verification cycle together to identify specific problem areas with the goal of finding targeted solutions to the MRV data access, storage, processing, and validation. The resulting suggestions were drawn from readily available tools and technologies, focusing on a high-level conceptual design. The main targets were "de-risking" technologies (those less prone to being affected by variables that could in turn affect their deployment or performance delivery) and developing assets to accelerate deployment in a field setting. Assessing alternatives for constructing a repository that would expedite the manipulation of data to generate estimates and reports involved collaboration with California Polytechnic University's Digital Transformation Hub as part of their collaboration with Amazon Web Services.

A success scenario was elaborated then dissected into key components based on "customer pain points." Modular solutions tailored to each pain point were then assembled according to the following needs:

- 1. Flexibility in methods. A single methodology would not address differing country contexts because the methods used are as diverse as the forests themselves.
- 2. Support for open-source data input. Countries need to be able to use existing datasets, so the stateof-the-art data collected and tested could not be the default. Model classifiers (used to identify forest characteristics) vary by ecosystem, and the best source of input data varies by region.
- 3. *Model parameters.* The definitions of forest, deforestation, and degradation must be considered as model parameters.

**Note:** The Digital Transformation Hub collaborates with a variety of governments, educational institutions, and nongovernmental organizations to involve hundreds of students, faculty members, and staff in addressing future challenges; it also established the first Cloud Innovation Center, supported by Amazon Web Services.

After reviewing the prioritized needs and discussing potential solutions, the next step involved defining areas for further technical exploration, which is described below.

### **Data Lifecycle and Processing**

The central theme in most "pain points" was lack of a central repository to house and enable processing of data throughout the MRV process, along with lack of an effective process for managing the data as it is processed throughout the MRV cycle. The desired characteristics/capabilities identified for prototypes included the following:

- Show how different types of data can flow into a central repository governed by a security framework that allows for granular access
- Demonstrate how processes can be established to "sanitize" raw data into useable formats
- Show how metadata can be generated automatically using data crawlers that run custom classifiers on datasets defined to infer the data format and schema
- Demonstrate how alternate data sources can be brought into the repository and combined with existing elements
- Demonstrate how using a single "source of truth" (that is, a single entry point allowing access to all the evidence needed to validate and verify estimates) could facilitate downstream processes and auditability, streamlining many aspects of the current process
- Demonstrate how a standardized computer container can be scaled to perform data transformations (that is, gradient-boosting machine learning models) beyond the current limitations of localized computer hardware
- Provide examples of how large amounts of data can be transferred to the cloud with limited connectivity, within a reasonable timeframe, and at a cost that works within the business requirements
- Demonstrate how familiar tools currently used in the MRV process can continue to access data in the cloud with the correct access permissions

### Modeling

Once datasets are collected, sourced, and transformed into usable formats, they are modeled and used to estimate and quantify changes in biomass. Modeling biomass is an evolving science that requires the right technical tools to run models, calculate uncertainty levels, and ease the burden of collaboration. This technology must be easy to consume and have a low barrier for entry to establish, while demonstrating (1) how cloud infrastructure can be generated easily with a common set of tools allowing easy adoption and startup, and (2) how open-source Earth observation data can be accessed for use within another application (such as a Jupyter notebook environment), including access to open-source model frameworks to estimate biocarbon changes.

### **Role-Based Access Control and Data Obfuscation**

While centralizing data in a single location solves many problems, it creates potential issues in providing different levels of role-based access and the means to obfuscate raw data. For example, those reaching certain conclusions need to understand how the data were used but not be able to access the underlying source. Other needs include demonstrating the ability to (1) collaborate with others to analyze centralized datasets and gain new insights, while not revealing the underlying data to one another, and (2) apply fine-grain, role-based access to data in the cloud.

### **Validation and Verification**

Validation and verification bodies—required for reviewing methodological approaches—are traditionally siloed/segmented from the source data and computations. Using a modern approach that reunites data and computations with these bodies would enable a more transparent review of the process, data, models, and methodologies used to estimate biomass and calculate emission reductions. Needs include demonstrating (1) the ability to re-run analyses undertaken in the modeling phase with explanatory cells to accompany executable portions of code connected to the original source data, and (2) how all code and data can be tagged to verify immutability and allow transparent verification that can be reproduced.

## III. DIGITAL ARCHITECTURE SOLUTIONS

The needs assessments identified end-user requirements for a centralized data repository, data sharing, and privacy.<sup>17</sup> These included elements related to the following:

- 1. Data preservation (that is, avoiding potential deletion)
- 2. Reporting integrity (tracking and preserving all changes and versions)
- 3. Confidentiality and access (managing different levels of access according to clearance levels, for example, auditors vs the general public)
- 4. Data cataloging (metadata, source tracking, automatic tagging, origin, and relationships)
- 5. Scalability (flexible and capable storage capacities and functionalities to ingest new data as data volumes and types increase)

All data management solutions need to be capable of cost-effectively working with existing systems and processing large volumes of data with ever-changing algorithms and use state-of-the-art tools—in some instances in situations with poor connectivity. Based on these requirements, the solutions process identified the best option to be a data lake, which is a centralized repository designed to store large volumes of raw data in its native format until it is needed (Figure 3).





Source: Singman (2024).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Because the digital solutions aspect of this study involved a collaboration with Amazon Web Services, the solutions tested are part of their family of products. This, however, by no means implies that these products are the only available options; the *functionalities* are the focus, not the *provider*.

A data lake can ingest and transform data as it arrives.<sup>18</sup> It features an ingestion framework that, if necessary, can standardize data into a common repository, allow input data to be converted into the format required for analytical frameworks or models, and enable data to be curated and features extracted for use in model training. The link to the original data is maintained to enable corrections and modifications to be made when needed. Data lakes can include data governance structures built using their automatic metadata-generation capabilities. This allows data to be used in dashboards, applications, and artificial intelligence models, as well as automation in an iterative process of collecting, organizing, analyzing, and infusing data—commonly referred to as the "artificial intelligence ladder."

### Simple Storage Service

The identified foundation for the data lake is the "simple storage service" (S3) proposed by Amazon Web Services. Countries showed interest in this option because it removes the need for them to supply the hardware and onsite technical support. Characteristically, S3 is an easy-to-use proven solution already in wide use that delivers the required amount of storage, has proved to be durable (with automatic backups), is costoptimized, and includes standardized access methods and fine-grain security policies and access history. Data are stored in the region of placement but can be accessed across regions (Figure 4).

| Amazon S3 ×  | objects, you'll need to explice | citly grant them permissions. Learn more 🔀 |  |                  |
|--|---------------------------------|--|--|------------------|
| the second s | C Copy S3                       | 3 URI 🗇 Copy URL 🕑 Download                | Open 🗹 Delete  | Actions <b>v</b> |
| Buckets  | Create folder                   | 🖪 Upload                                   |  |                  |
| Access Points  | Q Find objects by pre           | -fix                                       |  | < 1 >            |
| Object Lambda Access Points  | - This copies of pre            |  |  |                  |
| Multi-Region Access Points   | Name 🔺                          | Type                                       | ⊽ Size v   | Storage class    |
| Batch Operations   | 0.csv                           | csv May 5, 2023, 09:44:53 (U               | TC-07:00) 18.6 Ki  | B Standard       |
| IAM Access Analyzer for S3   | □ <b>1</b> .csv                 | csv May 5, 2023, 09:40:55 (U               | TC-07:00) 13.7 KF  | B Standard       |
|  | 🗌 🗋 10.csv                      | csv May 5, 2023, 09:40:56 (U               | TC-07:00) 13.7 K   | B Standard       |
| Block Public Access settings for   | 🗆 🕒 11.csv                      | csv May 5, 2023, 09:40:56 (U               | TC-07:00) 13.7 K   | B Standard       |
| this account   | 🗆 🖸 12.csv                      | csv May 5, 2023, 09:40:56 (U               | TC-07:00) 13.7 K   | B Standard       |
| Storage Lens   | 🗆 🖸 13.csv                      | csv May 5, 2023, 09:40:56 (U               | TC-07:00) 13.7 KE  | B Standard       |
| Dashboards   | 🗌 🖿 14.csv                      | csv May 5, 2023, 09:40:56 (U               | TC-07:00) 13.7 KE  | 8 Standard       |
| AWS Organizations settings   | 15.csv                          | csv May 5, 2023, 09:40:57 (U               | TC-07:00) 13.7 KE  | 3 Standard       |
|  | 🗌 🗋 16.csv                      | csv May 5, 2023, 09:40:57 (U               | TC-07:00) 13.7 KE  | 3 Standard       |
| Feature spotlight  | 🗌 🕒 17.csv                      | csv May 5, 2023, 09:40:57 (U               | TC-07:00) 13.7 KE  | 3 Standard       |
|  | 18.csv                          | csv May 5, 2023, 09:40:57 (U               | TC-07:00) 13.7 KE  | 3 Standard       |
|  | 19.csv                          | csv May 5, 2023, 09:40:57 (U               | TC-07:00) 13.7 KE  | 3 Standard       |
| AWS Marketnlace for \$3  |                                 |  | an and the second secon |                  |

### Figure 4. Example of a simple storage service web interface

#### Source: Amazon Web Services.

Data interconnectivity was explored using a serverless data integration service (Amazon Web Service Glue),<sup>19</sup> which allows easy discovery, movability, and integration of data from multiple sources and integrates with Amazon's simple storage service data lakes. For collaborative data analysis, Amazon Web Service's Clean

Report for the Next Generation of Monitoring, Reporting, and Verification of Land Use Emission Reductions Programs ASA (P178735)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> For an example of a data lake, see <u>https://aws.amazon.com/solutions/implementations/data-lake-solution/</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> <u>https://docs.aws.amazon.com/glue/latest/dg/what-is-glue.html</u>

Rooms<sup>20</sup> was explored because it allows secure analysis and collaboration on collective datasets, providing ease of use without the need for collaborators to share or copy each other's underlying data (Figure 5). This was of relevant for the validation and verification process.

|                                     | Country A allow  | Validator B  |   | Actions   |
|-------------------------------------|--|--|---|---|
| Collaborations<br>Configured tables | Allow DXHub WorldBank demo   | account to run queries against                     | data held by Demo Country A   | Actions   |
| Documentation 🗷                     | Overview   |  |   |   |
|                                     | Membership status<br>⊘ Active  | Collaboration creator<br>0552-1601-0181 (you)      | Query logging<br>Not supported  | Data that can be queried<br>0 out of 0                  |
|                                     | Your member abilities<br>Contribute data   | Members<br>2 out of 2 active                       | Cryptographic computing<br>Not supported                                  | May need your attention                                 |
|                                     |  |  |   |   |
|                                     | < Tables Members   | Details  |   | >   |
|                                     | < Tables Members Members (2) Member display names are assign   | Details<br>ed by the collaboration creator for eac | h AWS account ID, and are not verified b                                  | by AWS.   |
|                                     | < Tables Members Members (2) Member display names are assign C Remove Q. Find member                               | Details  | h AWS account ID, and are not verified b                                  | ><br>>y AWS.<br>< 1 >                                   |
|                                     | < Tables Members Members (2) Member display names are assign C Remove Q. Find member Member                        | Details  | AWS account ID, and are not verified b<br>Member status V                 | y ∧ws.  |
|                                     | < Tables Members  Members (2) Member display names are assign  C Remove  Q. Find member  Member  0552-1601-0181 (F | Details<br>ed by the collaboration creator for eac | th AWS account ID, and are not verified b<br>Member status  V<br>O Active | 2y AWS.<br>( 1 )<br>Member abilities<br>Contribute data |

### Figure 5. Example of Amazon Web Service's Clean Rooms interface

#### Source: https://aws.amazon.com/clean-rooms/

For modeling, Amazon Sagemaker<sup>21</sup> was connected to the S3 data to run codes in an adaptive setting based on specific requirements for computational capacity. For example, Sagemaker can connect to codes held in Jupyter notebooks.<sup>22</sup> Another modeling option explored was GMV's uTile,<sup>23</sup> through which distributed data can be safely and privately manipulated without being exposed or moved (Figure 6).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> <u>https://aws.amazon.com/clean-rooms/</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> https://aws.amazon.com/pm/sagemaker/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> <u>https://jupyter.org/</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> <u>https://www.gmv.com/en-es/products/cybersecurity/utile</u>



### Figure 6. Example of a digital interface enabling secure computational capacity (uTile)

Source: https://www.gmv.com/en-es/products/cybersecurity/utile

### Modeling Test

After all the modeling options were identified, a test model was assembled to elaborate and deliver estimates based on preexisting datasets and modeling approaches readily available using a specific reporting framework (Figure 7). For the test, the model was used to run a sample estimation of emissions resulting from land cover changes using data recorded in the Democratic Republic of Congo. The following elements were incorporated:

- Amazon Sagemaker defined the computational settings required for data processing by running a code help in a preexisting Jupyter notebook. This included all the necessary software and libraries set into an Amazon Web Services Anaconda platform capable of optimizing computational performance. The size of the computer platform can be modified based on the size of the task; for example, in the case of final Monte Carlo uncertainty simulations for estimated emissions reductions, computational power needed to be maximized.
- 2. Sagemaker Geospatial was used for simplified access to open access satellite via an application processing interface; bypassing the need for data-specific connection settings.
- 3. Data used (previously stored in an S3 bucket) included biomass data, land cover classification data, and sample distribution data related to the Jupyter notebook.
- 4. The code was run, delivering raw data results for ingestion into the reporting framework.

- 5. Amazon Web Services Cloud 9 was used as an easy to access environment to develop a simple reporting application with REACT—the basis for the reporting website—supported with Amazon Web Services Lambda to run code in the back and Amazon Web Services application programming interface gateway to manage user requests.
- 6. Finally, Amazon Web Services QuickSight was used to build the reports.



### Figure 7. Model interface showcasing the identified solutions

Notes: ML = machine learning.

Biomass estimates were derived from biomass maps. Land cover classes and their transitions were derived from sample field data. The model successfully delivered estimates of both emissions factors (including uncertainty estimates) and reported estimated emissions per period in a very simple reporting interface. All data, repository, codes, and reporting connectivity were included.

### Analysis of the Proposed Data Architecture

Solutions for all data challenges assessed were readily available—including for data storage, tagging, preservation, flows, model inputs and outputs, differentiated access, estimation, and display—and the ASA study demonstrated that a fully integrated measuring system was possible. The caveat, however, is that the ASA model was constructed under ideal conditions. In contrast, participating FCPF and ISFL countries already have systems in place that inform not only MRV processes but also issues of forest governance. Current systems also reflect existing technical capabilities, as well as such factors as institutional and legal arrangements.

Consequently, instead of adopting all the elements identified through this ASA study, countries could incorporate relevant components to complement rather than replace the existing functional systems that MRV teams are familiar with, thereby allowing a tailored, modular approach. The storage systems were highlighted as the most desirable element because overcoming the existing challenges of FCPF's and ISFL's MRV cycle requires balancing technological advancements with the need for transparency and alignment with country-specific needs. The highest priority goals are ensuring MRV systems evolve effectively, adhere to environmental monitoring goals and local capacities, and are sustainable for the lifespan of programs.

# Challenges of Data Processing Solutions during the Verification Stage

MRV processes need to comply with reporting standards while also being transparent and auditable. As such, aligning MRV systems with FCPF's, or similar, methodological frameworks and verification standards is more than a procedural need—it is a strategic imperative. This alignment secures the integrity of the verification process, ensuring that reported emissions reductions are both credible and accurately reflected. This process involves the implementation of MRV systems by national institutions, adapting global standards to local contexts while maintaining technical qualities and reliability.

Discussions with validation and verification bodies indicated that a digital platform could both facilitate and disrupt the verification process. Verifiers need a transparent means of evaluating reported estimates and an easy way to access evidence and ask for clarification. The ability to go straight to the source and reconstruct the estimates with adequate access to aggregated data, including built-in version control, would improve the process while simultaneously building trust for the verification bodies. The specific requirements identified include for following:

- 1. A single system for inputting data, whereby all relevant information can be documented, stored, or linked (which implies a single data repository or multiple data repositories with interconnectivity that allows control over versions).
- 2. The ability to show how and with what data a particular report was generated.
- 3. Built-in version control so that any data modifications can be traced.
- 4. The ability to audit versions of reports.
- 5. The ability to check that the system recorded data accurately and immutably with minimal opportunity for human error, manipulation, or change.
- 6. The ability to allow validators/verifiers to have third party access to the system, including the ability for verifiers to tag/comment on issues in the system to facilitate easier tracking.

Integrating complex data processing methods, such as artificial intelligence, poses challenges in terms of maintaining transparency, accuracy, completeness, and consistency—all of which are essential to MRV processes, especially in the verification stage. The sophistication of these systems often makes it difficult to audit and understand decision-making processes, assumptions, and potential sources of bias. These challenges result in *more* rather than *fewer* findings by auditors, which generates additional work for MRV teams in order to provide reasonable levels of assurance that the systems used are not biased.

In addition, beyond FCPF's and ISFL's requirements, digital systems would involve additional compliance standards, such as ISO 27001 clause 4.3 on standard security techniques, which would in turn add capacity requirements for both MRV teams and auditors. Note that compliance with digital standards was not assessed in this ASA study.

Generic off-the-shelf solutions can be considered fully operational under the Global Forest Observations Initiative's Criteria to Consistently Assess Levels of Maturity (CALM).<sup>24</sup> These are being used for the data collected and processed for both FCPF's and ISFL's measuring and reporting components. Use in the verification stage was shown to be viable, but compliance may involve additional requirements as systems shift into the realm of standards.

### Inefficiencies Based on the Method of Communication

The ASA study identified that, under both FCPF and ISFL, the existing reporting and verification process is inefficient based on the communication methods used. Specifically, the use of word processing–based reporting templates (using Microsoft Word) for both monitoring reports and verifying findings lacks any assurance of completeness prior to submission by reporting parties and cannot guarantee linkages to sources of evidence of reporting estimates or facilitate exchanges between country teams and validation verification bodies. In addition, both FCPF and ISFL are pilot programs, so templates are subject to updates, requiring reporting parties to keep up to date with versions and modifications. This causes major transaction costs, not to mention frustration by all parties involved in the MRV cycle. Average time for the reporting and verification under the first monitoring report was 18 months—clearly indicating the need for improvement.

Another point of inefficiency identified is the (ever-changing) existing MRV reporting template. Countries are required to input the results of measurements into the template, which is in turn governed by standards. Verification is done based on a monitoring report correlated with that template. The ASA study concluded that these time-consuming manual processes could be improved through the use of a digital reporting template that would reduce churn and allow for data to be sourced and audited more dynamically and consistently. Dynamic reports could be generated on request from source data and be much easier to validate.

The needs identified include the following:

- 1. Demonstrate how reports would look and function as a dynamic web-based application that can generate graphs, tables, and so on.
- 2. Demonstrate technology frameworks that allow outputs to be compiled into a template and format that draws from a central repository of modeled results.
- 3. Demonstrate dynamic reports that reflect data generated directly from model outputs rather than through a "copy and paste," which is subject to immediately becoming outdated.
- 4. Facilitate the transfer and interconnectivity of relevant data in the different reports—for example, nonvariable parameters, methodology, and descriptions should be incorporated automatically in subsequent reports.
- 3. Document formatting changes that require presentations to be reworded to meet revised output standards. Standardized inputs should automatically be generated according to reporting requirements so that the burden of repetitious editing, word processing, and formatting changes is eliminated.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> The Global Forest Observations Initiative is the leading group in research, capacity building, data, and methods guidance on MRV for forests. CALM draws on the concept of NASA's Application Readiness Levels to develop "concepts under assessment" (CUA) related to REDD+ MRV.

### **Proposed Reporting Hub**

The ASA explored the possibility of developing a reporting hub that would satisfy the reporting and verification requirements under FCPF along with the issues related to data generation, manipulation, and storage. This led to the development of a test website (effectively a digital version of the current template) incorporating the desired levels of interconnectivity and functionality for the reporting and verification components of the MRV process—constituting a paradigm shift in approaches to the needs of the MRV process, which traditionally have begun with the monitoring component. The ASA explored how the levels of interconnectivity and functionality needed for the reporting and verification processes might facilitate a revision of the entire monitoring and reporting cycle, while at the same time providing the means to deliver feedback, collect responses, and track changes to reporting documentation.

As part of the ASA, a new reporting template was devised based on FCPF's reporting template. This proved to be the most promising component of the solutions tested because it provided the necessary format and internet connectivity for teams to input, manipulate, update, and correct data using codes, algorithms, and spreadsheets, while also enabling auditors to communicate to deliver findings (Box 4). The cost of implementation would be marginal compared with a fully integrated system, could be implemented in the short term, and would immediately have a positive impact on both FCPF's and ISFL's programs. This could be a particularly timely asset because the Bank's MRV teams currently face 24 FCPF and 12 ISFL reports, along with new ones as programs enter the SCALE (Scaling Climate Action by Lowering Emissions) pipeline.

### Box 4. Proposed online reporting hub

The proposed reporting hub works as a centralized system and repository, where relevant reports can be initiated, saved, and revised, then progressed to the validation phase where they can be further modified, verified, tracked, and finally issued. As new reporting phases are initiated, information from previous reports can be incorporated, reducing the transaction costs associated with currently used word processing-based approaches. The interface, shown below, can be accessed and explored at https://xd.adobe.com/view/af9dcb8e-1d9a-475e-916e-1ff83e1fd862-face/



A fundamental aspect of reporting and verification processes is transparency. By connecting the formulae in the reports with their associated source data and codes, the interface allows calculations of estimates to be completely reconstructed by third party auditors. This continuity extends all the way to input data collected in the field or assessed via remote sensing and includes access to processing codes and data repositories.

One of the biggest hurdles in the MRV process is the iterative nature of interactions between the reporting and standard management teams on the one hand, and the reporting and validation and verification teams on the other. These communications are usually transferred as (clean and tracked) word-processing documents via email, which are logged with the corresponding answers attached. This cumbersome process generates a significant volume of email messages and report versions, along with substantial confusion and potential for error.

In contrast, the proposed online reporting hub provides a practical, secure, easy-to-use solution that would expedite the process while preserving the tracked versions of reports, the responses to queries, and the opening and closing of findings.

Source: Devised by authors.

# IV. CONCLUSION

### Lessons Learned

Combining innovative technologies—including remote sensing, geostatistics, artificial intelligence, and cloud computing—to build a next-generation of MRV will certainly accelerate the process of accessing climate finance and make it easier for governments and stakeholders to monitor their forests and the implementation of related environmental policies. Realizing this endeavor will take time, however, and is subject to numerous caveats, discussed below.

**Using terrestrial laser scanning.** The collection of digital volumetric data via terrestrial laser scanning will improve the accuracy of biomass estimates at tree and plot levels. Nevertheless, data collection and databases are still under construction, and the methods of analysis have yet to mature. Use of terrestrial laser scanning as a field method or to enhance allometric equations is a medium- to long-term endeavor, so data collection will not necessarily be faster than with traditional national forest inventory methods. Consequently, it is not possible to use this approach to inform current bank programmatic work under FCPF and ISFL.

**Directly estimating biomass using maps.** It is not yet possible to incorporate direct estimates of biomass into FCPF's and ISFL's MRV processes. The datasets used for extrapolation from ground data to larger areas introduce bias in the models, and currently available optical and SAR dataset signals saturate in high biomass areas. New satellites expected to help in overcoming this issue are anticipated to become available soon, including satellites with P-band SAR, which is more successful in penetrating tree canopies. ESA Biomass and NASA-ISRO (NISAR) missions<sup>25</sup> are expected to help with these limitations, and commercial alternatives such as TandemX<sup>26</sup> are being explored by the World Bank in collaboration with University of Maryland and NASA.

**Using airborne LiDAR data.** Although Airborne LiDAR data, which is needed to upscale field-based plot data to satellite data, greatly reduces uncertainties stemming from extrapolation. It has not yet proved to be as necessary for MRV systems, however, based on recent findings of complementarities between plot data from national forest inventories and readily available global tree height and biomass products.

**Producing regional biomass estimates.** How to produce regional biomass estimates, including estimates of uncertainty, remains unclear, which can affect the auditing process. GFOI is working on elaborating good practice guidance informed by recent publications. The use of CALM to deploy MRV technologies is advised, however.

**Using digital data interfaces.** Digital data interfaces that satisfy measurement needs can be constructed, but it will be necessary to comply with relevant additional standards.

**Using digital reporting interfaces.** Digital reporting interfaces have the potential to ease and expedite reporting and auditing processes irrespective of such variables as weather, human resource and institutional capacities, the need for transparency, and alignment with existing in country systems.

Report for the Next Generation of Monitoring, Reporting, and Verification of Land Use Emission Reductions Programs ASA (P178735)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> <u>https://www.esa.int/applications/observing\_the\_earth/futureeo/biomass</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> <u>https://tandemx-science.dlr.de/</u>

**Falling costs of airborne data.** The assumption that new satellites and the falling costs of airborne data (especially from drones) will result in unprecedented data availability to support biomass estimation remains unproven. As reported by Málaga Durán (2024), however, global datasets calibrated to regional estimates using national forest inventory plot data are readily available and should be explored.

**Increased data availability.** While the availability of datasets used to upscale biomass estimates to regional levels enables biomass patterns to be monitored more frequently, countries are already generating deforestation and forest degradation layers that can be linked to biomass estimates produced by other means (for example, maps used for stratification approaches). However, detecting patterns in biomass differs significantly from actually measuring and quantifying levels, particularly under reporting standards. For the most part, current reporting frameworks require biannual reporting at best, which eliminates the need to further increase frequency. In contrast, using remote sensing approaches for early warning systems to inform design and policy implementation are becoming standard in most forested countries given the higher availability of daily remote sensing data.

**Standardizing estimations of carbon stocks.** The goal of standardizing carbon stock estimations to make data from different sources compatible and easy to integrate and to more accurately quantify uncertainties as yet remains unattainable. The ASA study proved that there are many ways to estimate biomass, even when similar input datasets are used. In the end, to facilitate data comparability and interoperability what is needed is transparency, in terms of their characteristics and how they were obtained. The idea of standardized estimates is based on an ideal reference estimate, but the development of novel approaches makes the existence of a reference standard estimate a utopian ideal rather than a reality. Rather than standardizing the estimates, what needs to be standardized is the proposed use of the estimates, informed by their associated characteristics. The criteria used should be both quantitative and context specific. For example, the average biomass estimates for a mono-specific plantation in which all trees are the same age will be much more accurate than that of a tropical rainforest with over 400 species per hectare. Quantitatively speaking, of the two types of estimates, the plantation estimate are the more desirable of the two types. In this case, such context could inform the rapport between the estimates and the MRV framework in terms of how uncertainty is interpreted. Standardization is neither possible, nor necessary given the diversity of countries and forests.

**Reducing the time needed to generate estimates.** Sound data infrastructure linked to a reporting framework can render the reporting and verification stages of the MRV process considerably faster and more efficient because MRV systems can become operational within months rather than years, and the time lag between the end of a monitoring period and the availability of data is much shorter. This premise was supported by the evidence collected under the ASA study.

In summary, the ASA study highlighted the importance of carefully considering the use of new technologies. The study emphasized the need for methods and equipment that are novel, yet well established as a means of minimizing unforeseen circumstances. Making use of the latest technologies across all aspects of the MRV process would increase the risk of failure and, rather than solving existing challenges, increase the likelihood of generating new challenges.

### Recommendations

The simplest opportunity for expediting MRV processes in REDD+ programs is the incorporation of technologies to expedite reporting, validation, and verification. Country teams, supporting agencies, standard managers, and validation and verifications bodies all agreed on this point. Off-the-shelf digital technologies are readily available to enhance measurement procedures. Their implementation needs to be country-specific and ensure complementarities with existing systems. The long-term sustainability of proposed approaches and their integration into national systems are essential. Coherence with existing national forest monitoring systems is another necessary component because new systems cannot disrupt or displace institutional, political, legal, and technical arrangements. Country measurement systems are multipurpose and inform multiple forest-related aspects, including their management and derived assets and benefits.

Use of novel technologies can accelerate the measurement process but result in additional requirements to achieve reasonable levels of assurance of lack of bias in the estimates and systems. Additional standards may need to be applied to the systems themselves. Use of methods under development in official MRV processes should be phased out or delayed until an assessment of their development and use has been completed. The need for a well-thought-out process for the incorporation of new approaches is clear and includes capacity building for producers, users, and assessors of estimates. Knowing the limitations of methods is also relevant, particularly in terms of transparency, consistency (particularly when considering a reference period), replicability, and overall the lack of bias—all of which need to be capable of being assessed. It is advised that CALM is used as a guidance tool.

Biomass mapping has been on the table for more than a decade. Its intended use has ranged from enhancing understanding of biomass distribution to informing estimates of emissions factors, to direct estimations of change. However, consensus remains lacking on how uncertainties should be estimated and incorporated into emissions estimates. To date there is no guidance on how to make use of maps for carbon accounting. This is exacerbated by an abundance of new maps constructed using different data inputs and methods, which creates a need for clarity in the selection of maps. Based on this, the Global Forest Observations Initiative is developing a process for delivering guidance on how to make use of maps correctly.

As demand for carbon credits increases, the offer of high integrity emissions reductions becomes more relevant; however, recent events have illustrated how challenging the delivery of such emission reductions actually is. REDD+ programs, such as those under the FCPF and ISFL, have made significant efforts to deliver their verified emission reductions, but the process is time-consuming. This ASA study found alternative pathways for the World Bank to explore in efforts to accelerate the MRV process. These pathways diverge from the commonly held belief that efficiency and timeliness could be achieved through automated monitoring and measuring systems supported by artificial intelligence.

Facilitating the validation and verification process of REDD+ programs can be achieved by means of digital architecture. The change in scope demonstrated the interoperability of data flows and management, beginning with both the template used to present reports to auditors and their interactions with it. This approach was well-received by report producers and auditors, as well as by team members. The kind of communications hub described in this report would dramatically lower the time and cost burden to reporting and verification processes while simultaneously increasing efficiency and transparency. ASA participants recommended that a pilot study be undertaken.

For the World Bank, it is recommended that a policy, informed by the CALM framework, be developed for assessing and incorporating technology and enabling its meaningful and impactful use. This could involve a two-pronged approach:

- 1. Enabling exploration exercises such as those combining the acquisition of terrestrial laser scanning data and tree- and plot-level estimations of biomass
- 2. Elaborating the path toward sound assimilation of novel technologies into the MRV process

These approaches should optimize resource use while shielding countries from potential failures arising during the exploration phase and avoiding contributing to unrealistic expectations (as illustrated by the hype cycle).<sup>27</sup> It is therefore recommended that clients be supported in incorporating new digital data technologies, tools, or components that are readily available and can complement the systems already in use.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> https://www.gartner.com/en/research/methodologies/gartner-hype-cycle

# Appendix A. High-Quality Field Data Collection Exercise

A high-quality field data collection exercise was carried out over the 50,000-hectare region of interest inside the Gilé National Reserve and buffer zone in Mozambique's ERP under FCPF's results-based payments portfolio (Map A1).



### Map A1. Location of high-quality field data collection exercise

**Notes:** Aerial laser scanning (ALS) data were acquired across the entire region; slow-flying unmanned aerial vehicle laser scanning (UAV-LS) data were acquired across six 300-ha sections (GIL01 to GIL06); and terrestrial laser scanning (TLS) data were collected in six one-hectare plots (GIL01-01 to GIL06-01) within these sections.

### Acquisition and Processing of Terrestrial Laser Scanning Data

TLS data were collected from each of the established six one-ha forest plots, specifically selected for their representativeness of the forests in the area, using a RIEGL VZ-400i scanner <sup>28</sup> (Figure A1). The six plots were established using RAINFOR-defined protocols in accordance with the Committee on Earth Observation Satellites above-ground woody biomass product validation good practices protocol (Duncanson et al. 2021). For each one-hectare (planimetric) plot the principal axes were aligned north and east for the x and y axes, respectively, and demarcated using a galvanized pole.

Photo A1. Terrestrial laser scanning data collection in GIL01-01



Figure A1. Example of a plot stem map



**Notes:** This example is for GILO2-O1. Each tree stem is represented by a circle scaled by tree stem diameter at breast height, overlaid with each unique tree identifier or "tree tag."

<sup>28</sup> <u>http://www.riegl.com/nc/products/terrestrial-scanning/produktdetail/product/scanner/48/</u>

For each tree inside these plots with a stem diameter greater than or equal to 10 centimeters the following data were collected:

- 1. Stem diameter via a circumference/diameter tape
- 2. Point of measurement of the stem diameter—either 1.3 meters (m) above the ground or 0.5m above the buttress
- 3. Taxonomic identity, as determined by the botanist
- 4. Coordinates within the subplot (that is, x-y as described above)
- 5. Relevant RAINFOR-defined fieldwork database codes and notes

An estimate of basic wood density was assigned to each tree via taxonomic identity and the mean value of entries available in the Global Wood Density Database (Zanne et al. 2009). Attribution was determined, in order of priority, at the species, genus, or plot level (84.4, 14.2, and 1.4 percent for the 1,406 individual trees, respectively). Finally, taxonomic identity was cross-checked using the Taxonomic Name Resolution Service,<sup>29</sup> and typographical errors were corrected.

### **Results of Terrestrial Laser Scanning**

The TLS point clouds collected provide a complete representation of the external 3D structure of each tree within the six one-ha plots (Figure A2). Each laser point was labeled as wood, leaf, coarse woody debris, or terrain using a Sylvera-developed PointNet++ model based on methods described by Krisanski et al. (2021). This deep learning model (Qi et al. 2017) assigns class probabilities for individual points based on various features within the given point cloud (Figure A3, panel a). Next, woody points were categorized using a Sylvera-developed graph-based approach, which clusters and assigns them to a particular tree (Figure A3, panel b). The inventory data were used to assess the quality of the point cloud segmentation (noting that the same number of trees and their location had to be recorded in both datasets). Any discrepancies—such as in the number of trees recorded using national forest inventory methods and estimated from the terrestrial laser scanning data—were reassessed and resolved, highlighting the need for curatorial work after the data are processed. A quantitative structural model (QSM) was then built for each tree to include volume estimates combined with the inventory data (Figure A3, panel c). This identified the species and allocated wood density, which assisted in estimating biomass at the individual tree level.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> https://tnrs.biendata.org/

Figure A2. Example of a terrestrial laser scanning point cloud



Figure A3. Steps in constructing the external 3D representation of each tree



**Panel a.** 3D representation of leaf and woody components of a tree **Panel b.** Volumetric model of the woody components of an individual tree **Panel c.** Sample transect of trees within one of the six one-ha plots surveyed

#### Map A2. Above-ground biomass map overlaid on satellite imagery



QSM cylinders of each tree within each cell were used to create above-ground biomass maps derived from TLS at a 10m resolution (Map A2). To convert the QSM-derived maps of woody volume into above-ground biomass, cylinders were assigned a basic woody tissue density (dry mass divided by green volume) based on the taxonomic identity of the tree in question. Unidentified tree cylinders with stems located outside the plot but with branches encroaching into the plot were assigned a plot-level basal-area-weighted average wood density. Trees identified as dead in the inventory data were excluded from the estimates (Table A1).

Note: This example is for GIL02-01.

Above-ground biomass at 568 pixels (a 10m resolution) across the six one-ha plots (GIL01-01 to GIL06-01) equivalent to 5.68 ha—equaled 458.6 MT, resulting in an average density of 80.7 MT/ha. The range was as low as 1.01 MT/ha in GIL03-01 to as high as 165.3 MT/ha in GIL02-01. Relative plot-level uncertainty in aboveground biomass density (at a 90 percent confidence interval) was less than 15 percent of the estimate itself. The key exception was GIL03-01, where the relative uncertainty of the estimate was172.5 percent because the density was exceptionally low (1.01 MT/ha). The uncertainty in the aggregate total density over all six plots was 6.1percent (4.9 MT/ha).

Table A1. Above-ground biomass estimates derived through terrestrial laser scanning, including density and uncertainty levels

|                  | Above-ground biomass derived through terrestrial laser scanning |                    |                        | Number of pixels<br>(10m resolution) |         |
|------------------|---|--------------------|------------------------|--------------------------------------|---------|
| Plot             | Total (MT)  | Density<br>(MT/ha) | Uncertainty<br>(MT/ha) | Total                                | Nonzero |
| GIL01-01         | 47.7  | 56.1               | 7.9 (14.0%)            | 85                                   | 85      |
| GIL02-01         | 163.6   | 165.3              | 17.6 (10.6%)           | 99                                   | 99      |
| GIL03-01         | 1.19  | 1.01               | 1.8 (172.5%)           | 118                                  | 17      |
| GIL04-01         | 57.6  | 56.5               | 9.7 (17.1%)            | 102                                  | 90      |
| GIL05-01         | 80.2  | 94.4               | 13.3 (14.0%)           | 85                                   | 84      |
| GIL06-01         | 108.3   | 137.1              | 18.4 (13.4%)           | 79                                   | 79      |
| Aggregated total | 458.6   | 80.7               | 4.9 (6.1%)             | 568                                  | 454     |

**Notes:** Estimates reflect a 90 percent confidence interval. Zero pixels indicate that no above-ground biomass was observed within that pixel. MT = metric tons; ha =hectare; m = meter.

# Comparing Above-Ground Tree-Scale Estimates Using LiDAR and Allometric Methods

To assess the level of improvement in the estimates, above-ground tree-level biomass estimates were derived using allometric equations for the 1,226 living trees inventoried across the six plots. Two commonly used allometric equations were considered for this analysis (Table A2): (1) the widely used pantropical allometric equation described in Chave et al. (2014) and (2) an allometric model described in Mugasha et al. (2013), which is specific to the Miombo woodland used by the Mozambique government to undertake their national forest inventory and is relevant to Gilé National Reserve within the context of the Zambezia Integrated Landscape Management Program.

### Table A2. Allometric equations used to assess the accuracy of the estimates of above-ground biomass

| Equation 1                                    | Equation 2  |
|---|---|
| Chave et al. (2014)                           | Mugasha et al. (2013)                               |
| AGB=0.0673( $D^2 H_{\rho}$ ) <sup>0.976</sup> | AGB=0.0763(D <sup>2.2046</sup> H) <sup>0.4918</sup> |

Notes: AGB = above-ground biomass; D = tree diameter at breast height; and H = tree height.

Compared with above-ground biomass derived from TLS, which totaled 538.8 MT for the 1,226 living trees, the allometric-derived totals were 452.4 MT using the Chave et al. (2014) equation and 496.0 MT using the Mugasha et al. (2013) equation (Figure A4). This represents a 17.4 and 8.3 percent difference for the two methodologies, respectively, indicating that the allometric estimates were systematically smaller than the respective TLS estimates. Note that these results were further elaborated and peer-reviewed in Demol et al. (2024).

### Figure A4. Comparison of TLS– and allometric-derived estimates of above-ground biomass for the 1,226 living trees across GIL01-01 to GIL06-01



Panel a. Results derived using the pantropical allometric model (Chave et al. 2014)

TLS-derived above-ground biomass (kilograms)

Panel b. Results derived using the Miombo woodland-specific allometric model (Mugasha et al. 2013)



**Notes:** For large trees—which contribute the most biomass to each plot (some up to 7,000 kg)—allometric estimates systematically underestimate biomass. For this reason, the scale for estimates derived through terrestrial laser scanning (the x axis) is larger than the scale for the allometric estimates (y axis).

### **Airborne Laser Scanning**

ALS, including UAV, delivered complementary data to establish correlations from which plot-level above-ground biomass estimates could be extrapolated (Figure A5). The ALS and UAV-LS datasets were used to derive a suite of metrics describing the structure of the forest using Sylvera-developed software capable of processing large-scale, high-density point clouds (Table A3). Examples of these variables for one of the 300-ha sections (Map A1, GILO2) for which UAV-LS data were collected for the entire region of interest are presented in Map A3.



### Figure A5. Point clouds from terrestrial laser scanning and airborne laser scanning

**Notes:** The figure depicts multiscale LiDAR point clouds for a 10 square meter section of forest within a one-hectare plot (GIL01-01).

### Table A3. Unmanned aerial vehicle and aerial laser metrics describing forest structure

| Metric                 | Resolution (m) |
|------------------------|----------------|
| Canopy height map      | 1              |
| Digital terrain model  | 1              |
| Relative height        | 10             |
| Tree fractional cover  | 10             |
| Canopy height rugosity | 10             |
| Fixed gap fraction     | 10             |
| Variable gap fraction  | 10             |
| Canopy closure         | 10             |
| Canopy ratio           | 10             |
| Z-entropy              | 10             |

Note: Rugosity is the presence of a rough, ridged, or wrinkled surface.

Map A3. A selection of metrics derived from the unmanned aerial vehicle laser scanning data collected across GILO2



**Notes:** Results are scaled from low (blue) to high (red). Rugosity indicates a rough, ridged, or wrinkled surface. Note, also, the regular presence of termite mounds in Panel b.

### **Biomass Cloud Computing**

Biomass cloud computing was implemented at a local scale through the expertise of the three major collaborators. Sylvera collected data in the field and elaborated the biomass mapping algorithm to that scale, while the European Space Agency's Global Development Assistance (GDA) program—which seeks to mainstream the use of Earth observation into development operations—targeted Agile Earth Observation Information Development applied to priority sectors. Through its GDA program, ESA brokered the participation of GeoVille, a satellite-based information solutions company that delivers end-to-end plug-in satellite information services for major market sectors. GeoVille helped in developing the algorithms used to extrapolate local biomass estimates for Mozambique's ERP area. Above-ground biomass modeling involved a two-stage process. The first stage involved using acquired ALS data to model biomass estimates for the 50,000-ha region of interest. The second stage used those results, with the addition of readily available remote sensing data, as input parameters to model biomass for the entire Zambezia ERP area.

The first stage involved mapping each of the 300-ha sections in the 50,000-ha region of interest. The biomass estimates were generated from the UAV-LS- and ALS-derived machine learning models, which were optimized using spatial cross-validation. The models were programmed to treat above-ground biomass as the dependent variable, and the metrics of forest structure (shown in Table A3) as input parameters. For this, a gradient boosting approach was implemented using Sylvera-developed software.<sup>30</sup> Issues resulting from spatial autocorrelation were controlled, which is a key issue when using biomass maps as the basis for estimating average regional biomass.

### **Upscaling the Biomass Estimates**

### Upscaling the Biomass Estimates to the Section Level

For the process of upscaling the biomass estimations, the estimates generated from the TLS data (Figure A6) and corresponding UAV-LS metric (Table A3) were recalculated to match 1m spatial resolutions. Then correlations between the above-ground biomass values and the corresponding UAV-LS metrics were assessed to ensure spatial independence between the training and validation data, thus reducing the risk of producing overly optimistic validation statistics. Modeled estimates for each of the 300-ha UAV-LS sections were generated, along with uncertainty estimates.

Plot-level UAV-LS biomass modeling resulted in performance statistics derived from the mean of the validation folds of root mean square error (RMSE), median symmetric accuracy, and signed symmetric percentage bias of 59.6 MT/ha, 48.9 percent, and 4.6 percent, respectively (Table A4). The Pearson correlation coefficient (r) between coincident TLS-derived above-ground biomass and the UAV-LS-derived canopy height was 0.59, which was the most important predictor of variable weight. The TLS to UAV model showed significant variance but low bias (Figure A6).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Gradient boosting has been shown to be fast and robust in avoiding over- and underestimation (Li et al. 2020), as well as over- and underfitting (Pham et al. 2020).

### Table A4. Statistics from the final tuned model

| Cross-validation metrics             | Results<br>(mean values) |
|--------------------------------------|--------------------------|
| Number of features                   | 44                       |
| Root mean square error (MT/ha)       | 59.6                     |
| Explained variance (%)               | 64.0                     |
| Median symmetric accuracy (%)        | 48.9                     |
| Symmetric signed percentage bias (%) | 4.6                      |
| Total bias (%)                       | -2.2                     |

**Notes:** Results shown are mean values from the spatial cross-validation of the models across all six plots shown in Map A1. MT = metric tons; ha = hectares.

### Figure A6. Spatial cross-validation of predicted above-ground biomass vs reference terrestrial laser scanning estimates



Notes: The blue line represents the "identity line" (1:1 proportion). MT = metric tons; ha = hectares.

The UAV-LS-derived products cover 209,050 pixels (10m resolution) across the six sections (GIL01 to GIL06) and are equivalent to 2,090.5 ha. Total above-ground biomass estimates for the sections ranged from 6,500 MT in GIL03 to 38,989 MT in GIL02, and totaled 146,443 MT (Table A5). Corresponding above-ground

biomass densities ranged from 19.3 MT/ha to 113.9 MT/ha, with an average of 70.1 MT/ha. Uncertainty for the aggregated above-ground biomass density, at a 90 percent confidence interval, was 3.2 MT/ha (4.6 percent). Section-level uncertainty ranged from 7.0 MT/ha for GIL05 (8.2 percent) to 4.5 MT/ha for GIL03 (23.3 percent). Uncertainty at the pixel-level was higher, averaging 133.7 percent, and was typically higher for pixels with lower biomass estimates.

|                    | Above-ground biomass estimates from<br>unmanned aerial vehicle laser scanning |                    |                        | Number of | pixels (10m) |
|--------------------|---|--------------------|------------------------|-----------|--------------|
| 300-ha<br>sections | Total<br>(MT)   | Density<br>(MT/ha) | Uncertainty<br>(MT/ha) | Total     | Nonzero      |
| GIL01              | 27,690.4  | 83.2               | 10.1 (12.1%)           | 33,300    | 33,300       |
| GIL02              | 38,989.2  | 113.9              | 11.2 (9.9%)            | 34,225    | 34,223       |
| GIL03              | 6,587.2   | 19.3               | 4.5 (23.3%)            | 34,175    | 33,923       |
| GIL04              | 18,976.9  | 52.6               | 6.4 (12.2%)            | 36,100    | 36,095       |
| GIL05              | 30,559.7  | 84.7               | 7.0 (8.2%)             | 36,100    | 36,096       |
| GIL06              | 23,639.9  | 67.3               | 6.7 (9.9%)             | 35,150    | 35,098       |
| Aggregated total   | 146,443.3   | 70.1               | 3.2 (4.6%)             | 209,050   | 208,735      |

Table A5. Above-ground biomass estimates from unmanned aerial vehicle laser scanning, including density and uncertainty

Notes: Estimates reflect a 90 percent confidence interval. MT = metric tons; ha = hectares.

### Upscaling the Biomass Estimates to the Region of Interest and Emission Reductions Program Area

Above-ground biomass for the region of interest was estimated using ALS data following the same process as for the UAV-LS biomass estimates, but in this case the UVA-LS-derived estimates were used as calibration parameters for ALS-derived metrics to extrapolate estimates for the 50,000-ha region of interest. Further upscaling from the UAV-LS to ALS followed the same process, whereby the UAV-LS-derived above-ground biomass was the dependent variable and the ALS-derived metrics of forest structure were the features (Figure A7).

Figure A7. Upscaling above-ground biomass estimates from terrestrial laser scanning to unmanned aerial vehicle laser scanning to aerial laser scanning



Source: de Mol et al. (2024).

**Notes:** Plot-level above-ground biomass estimates were generated using the terrestrial laser scanning (TLS) data (see Panel a) and were then used as calibration parameters for modeling above-ground biomass using the parameters derived from unmanned aerial vehicle laser scanning (UAV-LS), as presented in Table A1 (see Panel b). Finally, the UAV-LS-derived estimates were used as calibration parameters for modeling above-ground biomass based on metrics derived from aerial laser scanning (ALS) for the 50,000 hectare region of interest (see Panel c).

The final tuned model, upscaled from the UAV-LS to the ALS data, generated performance statistics from the mean of the validation folds of RMSE, median symmetric accuracy, and signed symmetric percentage bias of 26.6 MT/ha, 28.0 percent, and 4.8 percent, respectively (Table A6).

### Table A6. Statistics of the final tuned model

| Cross-validation metric        | Results |
|--------------------------------|---------|
| Number of features             | 44      |
| Toot mean square error (MT/ha) | 59.6    |
| Explained variance             | 64.0    |
| Median symmetric               | 48.9    |
| Symmetric signed               | 4.6     |
| Total bias (%)                 | -2.2    |

Notes: MT = metric tons; ha = hectares.

The cross-validation metrics report an improved performance in upscaling from the UAV-LS to the ALS model compared with results for upscaling from the TLS to the UAV-LS model. Results of upscaling to the ALS model indicated an RMSE of 26.0 MT/ha compared with 59.6 MT/ha for the TLS to UAV-LS model, while the explained variance (Figure A8), increased from 64.0 to 84.6 percent. This is likely the result of the much smaller spatial upscaling factor required in this step, at around 28x (~1,800 to ~50,000 ha) compared with around 300x for the TLS to UAV-LS model (~6 to ~1,800 ha). The median symmetric accuracy and total bias also improved (28.0 and -0.64 percent, respectively, compared with 48.9 and -2.2 percent, noting that smaller values are better for both metrics).

Figure A8. Spatial cross-validation of above-ground biomass predictions derived from aerial laser scanning compared with reference estimates derived from unmanned aerial vehicle laser scanning



Notes: The blue line represents the identity line (1:1 proportion); MT = metric tons; ha = hectares.

ALS-derived products cover 5,007,457 pixels (10m resolution) across the region of interest, equivalent to 50,075 ha (Map A4). Total above-ground biomass is 3,864,953 MT, with an average density of 77.18 MT/ha. Uncertainty for the aggregated density, at a 90 percent confidence interval, is 3.2 MT/ha (4.6 percent) (Table A7, Map A5).



Map A4. Estimated above-ground biomass in the region of interest within Gilé National Reserve, Zambezia, Mozambique

Source: Sylvera.

Note: Estimates were determined using Sylvera's multiscale LiDAR methods.

| Ishle A / Above-ground | l hiamace tram aerial la     | car coonning includ     | ind doneity and  | tuncortainty tor      | the region of interect |
|------------------------|------------------------------|-------------------------|------------------|-----------------------|------------------------|
| TADIC ALLADOVC-BIOUTIC | i Diviniass ni vini achai ia | sci staillille, ilitiuu | ille uchsilv all | I UIICEI LAIIILVI IUI | the region of milerest |
|                        |                              |                         |                  |                       |                        |

|                                 | Ab<br>from              | Number of pixels<br>(10m) |                        |           |
|---------------------------------|-------------------------|---------------------------|------------------------|-----------|
| Area/location                   | Estimated total<br>(MT) | Density<br>(MT/ha)        | Uncertainty<br>(MT/ha) | Total     |
| 50,000-ha<br>region of interest | 3,864,953               | 77.18                     | 3.2 (4.6%)             | 5,007,457 |

Notes: Estimates reflect a 90 percent confidence interval. MT = metric tons; ha = hectares.

### Map A5. Uncertainty of above-ground biomass estimates in the region of interest within Gilé National Reserve, Zambezia, Mozambique



#### Source: Sylvera.

Note: Estimates were determined using Sylvera's multiscale LiDAR methods.

The ASA study assessed the use of state-of-the-art methods for upscaling ALS-derived estimates to the ERP area of the Zambezia region of Mozambique. The goal was to test a combined Earth observation/field measurement approach, which used sufficient highly accurate above-ground biomass estimates from ground observations (ALS data) to train AI-based Earth observation image interpretation algorithms to extrapolate the known above-ground biomass values across the entire ERP area. The model used input data divided into two main groups: (1) in situ above-ground biomass data, including national forest inventory data and (2) remote sensing-based datasets, such as optical and radar imagery (Table A8).

### Table A8. Summary of data sources acquired for use with statistical analysis and model development

| Sensor/source  | Resolution                | Timeframe                                  | Metrics/statistics                    |
|--|---------------------------|--|---------------------------------------|
| Sentinel 2   | 10 and 20 meter<br>bands  | January 26, 2018, to<br>December 31, 2018; | Individual bands (20th<br>percentile) |
|  |                           | January 26, 2022, to<br>December 31, 2022  | NDVI (90th percentile)                |
| Alos-2 Palsar-2 L-Band <sup>a</sup>                          | 25 meters                 | January 1, 2018, to<br>December 31, 2018;  | Mean backscatter (VV, VH,<br>HH-VH)   |
|  |                           | November 1, 2022, to<br>December 31, 2022  | ,                                     |
| Landsat tree canopy cover (%) <sup>b</sup>                   | 30 meters                 | 2010-2015                                  | Canopy cover (%)                      |
| National forest inventory above-<br>ground biomass estimates | 20 x 50 meter<br>subplots | 2017-2018                                  | Above-ground biomass<br>(MT/ha)       |

Notes: MT = metric tons; ha = hectares; NDVI = normalized difference vegetation index.

<sup>a</sup> Masanobu and Takahiro (2011).

<sup>b</sup> Sexton et al. (2013).

High-resolution (10–20 meters) Sentinel-2 optical data allows information related to the spectral properties of the above-ground biomass to be retrieved, including all 12 spectral bands—that is, B02/blue, B03/green, B04/ red, B05/vegetation red edge 1, B06/vegetation red edge 2, B07/vegetation red edge 3, B08/nir, B8A/narrow nir, B11/swir 1, B12/swir 2—as well as the normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI). Percentiles of the spectral bands (20th percentiles) and the NDVI (90th percentiles) were calculated based on the time-series data.

Data from ALOS PALSAR-2 offering L-band backscatter were used for structural parameters. Compared with C-band radar (that is, Sentinel-1), the L-band SAR signal has a longer wave length, allowing it to more deeply penetrate the canopy and offer additional information about the geometric properties of the vegetation's canopy structure. Individual Level 2.2 ScanSAR 25m resolution scenes were sourced for the January–December 2022 period to gain coverage of the whole region of interest, resulting in 66 separate scenes.

The Landsat Tree Canopy Cover layer, derived from Landsat data, consists of estimates of the percentage of horizontal ground in each 30m pixel covered by woody vegetation greater than 5 meters in height (Sexton et al. 2013).

National forest inventory field data were collected over two years (2017 and 2018) on 128 clusters comprising 512 individual plots. Data included cluster and plot IDs, latitude and longitude, collection date, forest type, several structural metrics, and above- and below-ground biomass measurements. Field data sampling plots were spatially recreated using sampling strategy information from Mozambique's 2021 national forest inventory report and the latitude and longitude coordinates from the acquired tabulated national forest inventory data. Earth observation data were extracted at the cluster aggregation level. This method sought to leverage the sampling strategy of the national forest inventory data to account for the variability of the forest stand (Avitabile, Pilli, and Camia 2020). For this method, a one-ha polygon was created to represent the cluster

using the individual plot points, where the above-ground biomass estimate assigned was the mean value of the associated plots. Correlations among all variables were tested, and the integration and propagation of error and uncertainties in both the input (Earth observation) data and the target variable (biomass values) were applied using the Monte Carlo simulation approach as recommended by Penman et al. (2003) and Duncanson et al. (2021). Spatial autocorrelation in validation and prediction was assessed using semi-variograms to establish minimum distances.

Two modeling approaches were tested: Random Forest and U-net Image analysis regressor. The final product utilized the U-net results due to their better performance. U-net was developed by Ronneberger, Fischer, and Brox (2015) to tackle the problem of accurate segmentation of biomedical images with high resolution. Modeling outputs were validated splitting the dataset into train and test sets, validating on unseen "ground truth" data. Comparisons were also made with existing global products.

### Modeling Results of Upscaling to the Emission Reductions Program Area

Modeling results indicate the mean above-ground biomass was estimated at a 95 percent confidence interval as  $43.37 \pm 18.38$  MT/ha, ranging from 0 to 413 MT/ha (Map A6 for biomass estimates; Map A7 for uncertainty estimates). The total estimated above-ground biomass for the ERP area is 231.1 million MT. The validation results showed that the U-net modeling approach, using all predictor inputs to estimate the mean above-ground biomass density over the entire ERP area, explained 76 percent of the variance (r<sup>2</sup> = 0.76) with an RMSE of 28.98 (MT/ha) and a bias of -5.26 (MT/ha).



### Map A6. Estimated above-ground biomass in the emission reductions program area of East Zambezia, Mozambique

Source: Sylvera.

Map A7. Uncertainty of above-ground biomass estimates in the emission reductions program area of Eastern Zambezia, Mozambique



Source: Sylvera.

A statistical comparison of the two modeling outputs (ALS and U-net) for the 50,000-ha region of interest is presented in Figure A9 and Table A9. A comparison of the performance of the ASA model with readily available global biomass data is provided in Table A10. Note that the RMSE results for the ASA model are smaller than results for the global models.

Figure A9. Scatter plot showing agreement of actual vs predicted above-ground biomass values



**Notes:** MT = metric tons; ha = hectares.

| Descriptive statistic | Airborne laser<br>scanning | Upscaling to the<br>ERP area | Performance of upscaling<br>to the ERP area |
|-----------------------|----------------------------|------------------------------|---|
| Maximum               | 457.53                     | 443.00                       | N/A   |
| Minimum               | 0.00                       | 1.00                         | N/A   |
| Mean                  | 77.22                      | 72.22                        | N/A   |
| Range                 | 457.53                     | 442.00                       | N/A   |
| Standard deviation    | 60.13                      | 54.15                        | N/A   |
| Sum                   | 385,644,885                | 359,622,444                  | 93.3 percent                                |

Table A9. Descriptive statistics for modeling outputs derived from pixels within the airborne laser scanning mapping region of interest

**Note:** ERP = emission reductions program. N/A = not applicable.

Table A10. Performance of ASA model in upscaling biomass estimates to emission reductions program area compared with other global biomass models

| Model  | Mean<br>(MT/ha) | Minimum<br>(MT/ha) | Maximum<br>(MT/ha) | Total<br>(million MT) | RMSE vs<br>NFI data<br>(MT/ha) |
|--|-----------------|--------------------|--------------------|-----------------------|--------------------------------|
| Avitabile 2016 <sup>a</sup>  | 61.34           | 0                  | 410                | 271.4                 | 107.6                          |
| GlobBiomass <sup>b</sup>   | 51.17           | 0                  | 131                | 280.4                 | 119.5                          |
| European Space Agency (ESA)<br>Climate Change Initiative<br>(CCI) Biomass <sup>c</sup> | 52.88           | 0                  | 143                | 271.5                 | 110.5                          |
| ASA model upscaling to emis-<br>sion reductions program area                           | 38.89           | 0                  | 389                | 206.8                 | 101.2                          |

Notes: MT = metric tons; ha = hectares; RMSE = root mean square error; NFI = national forest inventory.

- a. <u>http://lucid.wur.nl/datasets/high-carbonecosystems</u>.
- b. <u>https://climate.esa.int/en/projects/biomass/</u>.
- c. https://globbiomass.org/wpcontent/uploads/GB\_Maps/Globbiomass\_global\_dataset.html.

### Appendix B. Analysis and Discussion of High-Quality Field Data Collection Exercise



Photo B1. TLS data collection

The use of TLS to collect volumetric data proved to be successful. This included enabling the acquisition of data from large trees not usually covered in the sampling from which allometric equations are developed. This helped deal with uncertainties resulting from extrapolation using equations in cases where a tree's diameter is beyond the scope of the sampling. Because of their more comprehensive representation of tree volume, the results obtained were consistent with the TLS-derived tree-level biomass estimates, which are usually higher than estimates produced with allometric equations. (Similar results have been reported by Sylvera and others for tropical humid forests, boreal forests, and redwoods forests, among others.) This deals with the consistent bias in allometry-based biomass estimates (for example, regarding the estimation of tree height [Terryn et al. 2024]) and should contribute to improving compliance through guidance on good practice and avoiding under- or overestimation. Such successes should, for example, support Mozambique in being able to update their estimates for the same type of forests if additional issues relating to statistical representativeness are dealt with.

### **Deploying Terrestrial Laser Scanning in the Field**

The collection of TLS data was expected to improve the quality of tree- and plot-level data more quickly than traditional national forest inventory methods. It does, however, require optimal weather conditions. First, it needs to be done during the dry season because water in the forest canopy causes the LiDAR beam to bounce in all directions, making data acquisition impossible. Second, windy conditions move tree branches causing TLS to produce multiple targets from a single branch, which makes modeling the tree structure impossible. These aspects can shorten the temporal windows for effective data collection and can result in longer than expected field campaigns and unforeseen costs. In addition, data collection requires access to the TLS sensor (at a cost of more than US\$100,000), and personnel need to be trained.<sup>31</sup>

TLS generates large volumes of data, which is challenging for data storage and transfer. The assessment identified a data lake to be the most appropriate solution. Sylvera exchanged the data collected with both the World Bank and the Mozambique MRV team via the Amazon Web Services S3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Note that the ASA study delivered training to Mozambique's MRV team.



Although data storage and transfer can be solved, TLS data processing is challenging, and it has not been standardized. The science behind the results it delivers for forest biomass measurements is still under development (Arrizza et al. 2024). Using TLS data also requires adequate discrimination of woody vs nonwoody vegetation components, which is a particularly challenging task that requires scientists to develop novel approaches, including radiometric methods that need accurate calibration and geometric methods that—as in the case of this ASA—use size, shape, position, density, roughness, and curvature of point clouds from the 3D coordinates of the points. Machine learning techniques are common, and novel approaches such as neural networks are being tested (Arrizza et al. 2024).

### Photo B2. Measuring the diameter of trees at breast height

**Notes:** One of the biggest issues with traditional methods is that measuring the diameter of trees at breast height is not always a straightforward task. In this case, a large tree needs to be measured above the buttress as the starting point of the beast height, which requires the use of a ladder. This usually results in an underestimation of tree biomass because the stumps are not included in the estimation.

Although software is available with wood-leaf separation tools (for example, CANUPO, TreeQSM, SimpleTree, TLSeparation, LeWoS, FORTLS, and TLS2trees), Sylvera used proprietary software to conduct the data processing. This indicates that data analysis techniques are still evolving and that TLS data sharing would open the door for deep learning-based methods to accelerate classification techniques. Nevertheless, using these methods for reporting under FCPF and ISFL could be problematic because systems and methods need to be audited. A reasonable level of assurance is needed that the models used are not biased, causing estimates to also be biased. In the case of this ASA study, the fact that the TLS estimates were higher than the ones derived through allometry could generate multiple findings and require them to be clarified during an auditing process.

These issues led to assessments of TLS use following CALM protocols (as previously discussed), informed not only by this study's TLS experience but also by the related literature and MRV experiences. GFOI is the leading group in research, capacity building, data, and methods guidance on MRV for forests. CALM draws on the concept of NASA's Application Readiness Levels to develop what is known as "concepts under assessment" (CUA) related to REDD+ MRV. Within that scope it became apparent that, although the results presented in this report demonstrate the great potential of TLS for improving tree- and plot-level biomass estimates—given that processing has yet to be standardized—TLS use by FCPF and ISFL countries is still between what CALM categorizes as levels 3 and 5 (Table B1). This indicates that TLS use remains in the preoperational stage, with some components still in the research and development stage (for example, point cloud data classification per

Sylvera's approach). Given that all FCPF countries have already had their first monitoring reports validated and verified, their biomass estimates have been settled for the remainder of the programs' reporting schedule. It is therefore unlikely that updated and potentially improved TLS estimates would be used.

TLS is currently being acquired by such organizations as Sylvera, with the objective of creating a representative database to contribute to updates by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change of the default values countries use in their greenhouse gas inventories.

Discussions with the Colombian and Mozambique MRV teams regarding difficulties in deploying the technology based on the need to acquire optimal data brought to light another way to use the TLS data. Instead of deriving the biomass estimates directly, it is possible to use volumetric data to recalibrate the allometric equations normally used in national forest inventories to remove biases caused by the sampling carried out during their development. Sylvera is exploring this approach.

### Table B1. CALM's scoring criteria for assessing the readiness of technologies for deployment

| Phase                    | Level  | Milestones   | Examples of supporting information   |
|--------------------------|--|--|--|
| Research and development | 1. Basic research<br>(conception)  | <ul> <li>CUA has stated goals for application<br/>in REDD+ MRV systems</li> <li>Prerequisites of CUA detailed</li> </ul>   | <ul><li>Literature review</li><li>Concept notes available</li></ul>  |
|                          | 2. Application concept<br>(invention)                                      | <ul> <li>High-level outline of CUA formulated<br/>and created</li> <li>Intended key priority aims and scope<br/>of CUA identified</li> </ul>   | <ul> <li>Research proposals submitted or approved</li> </ul>   |
|                          | 3. Proof of concept<br>(viability established)                             | <ul> <li>CUA design is independently<br/>reviewed</li> <li>CUA design is documented in detail</li> <li>Convincing case made for the<br/>viability of CUA</li> </ul>  | <ul> <li>Publications exist outlining the application<br/>being considered and provide analysis to<br/>support the concept</li> <li>Appropriate calibration and validation data are<br/>available</li> </ul>                                       |
|                          | 4. General planning<br>in external context<br>(prototype/plan)             | <ul> <li>Components of CUA brought<br/>together and external interaction<br/>issues worked out</li> <li>Impacts of CUA understood and<br/>mitigated</li> </ul>   | • Experimental data/publications are available for small-scale scenarios   |
| Pre-<br>operational      | 5. Specific planning in<br>relevant environment<br>(potential determined)  | <ul> <li>Impacts and required changes have<br/>been reviewed and pros and cons<br/>understood</li> <li>Accepted to proceed to beta testing</li> </ul>  | <ul> <li>Experimental data/publications for small-scale scenarios are available.</li> <li>Experimental data/publications available at national/jurisdictional level.</li> <li>Methods assessed for applicability in REDD+MRV context.</li> </ul>   |
|                          | 6. Demonstration in<br>relevant environment<br>(potential<br>demonstrated) | <ul> <li>Prototype CUA beta-tested in a simulated operational environment</li> <li>Results reviewed and assessed</li> </ul>  | <ul> <li>Data/estimates are acquired/made in<br/>consistent and sustainable manner for routine<br/>national monitoring</li> <li>Publications outlining the processing workflow<br/>and application in REDD+ MRV context<br/>available</li> </ul>   |
| Operational              | 7. Adopted in an<br>operational context<br>(functionality<br>demonstrated) | <ul> <li>CUA adopted in operational<br/>environment</li> <li>CUA has demonstrated pre-<br/>operational phase level 6</li> </ul>  | <ul> <li>Active implementation and capacity in country organizations mandated to conduct REDD+ MRV</li> <li>CUA has been used in the development of estimates submitted in reports to the UNFCCC or other bilateral arrangement/program</li> </ul> |
|                          | 8. Application completed<br>and qualified<br>(functionality proven)        | <ul> <li>CUA used in operational environment<br/>and results reviewed and shown to<br/>operate as expected</li> <li>Results from CUA qualified and<br/>approved</li> <li>Documentation and training<br/>completed</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>CUA has been used in the development of<br/>estimates submitted in reports to the UNFCCC<br/>or other bilateral arrangements/program</li> <li>Core data are available for routine monitoring</li> </ul>                                   |
|                          | 9. Operational<br>deployment and use<br>(sustained use)                    | <ul> <li>Sustained use of CUA in operational<br/>environment</li> </ul>  | <ul> <li>CUA has been subjected to technical<br/>assessment/technical analysis process of<br/>UNFCCC (or equivalent third party validation/<br/>verification) process at least once</li> </ul>   |

**Notes:** CUA = concepts under assessment; MRV = monitoring, reporting, and verification; REDD+ = Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation; UNFCCC = United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change.

# Data Collection Via Unmanned Aerial Vehicle Laser Scanning and Aerial Laser Scanning



### Photo B3. Airborne LiDAR

Airborne LiDAR data processing involves estimating the height of the forest canopy based on both the intensity of and time required for a signal to travel to and from the forest canopy and soil surface. This is now standard procedure, and many FCPF countries have experimented with such datasets. The novel component of this ASA study was using TLS and airborne LiDAR data in combination. TLS-derived estimates of biomass and tree-level canopy height at 10 x 10m pixels were correlated with estimates of canopy height derived from high-density UVA-LS data and low-density ALS data using Sylvera-developed methods (taking issues associated with biomass mapping into consideration). Using this methodology, a biomass map was successfully created for the 50,000ha region of interest. Putting such maps to use, however, proves problematic. Discussions of how to use data from biomass maps to estimate biomass-such as the average biomass of a certain type of forest combined with deforestation data to estimate resulting emissions—have not yet defined optimal ways to use the maps. GFOI is currently working on guidance for good practice in elaborating those estimates for MRV processes. One area of early consensus is that estimates derived from biomass maps should not be used at the pixel level. This is because, even if such maps are not biased, uncertainties at the pixel level usually calculate to more than 100 percent of the estimate, rendering the associated biomass estimates unreliable and unusable. This is especially the case if the underlying goal is to track biomass changes over time. It also has implications when upscaling estimates produced with remote sensing data, as was the case for the ERP area in Zambezia, Mozambigue.

### Deploying Unmanned Aerial Vehicle Laser Scanning and Aerial Laser Scanning in the Field

Although it is common to acquire data using airborne LiDAR, the process is difficult. Similar to acquiring data using TLS, conditions need to be perfect, so the window for operation is small. In addition, restrictions limit the deployment of drones. In addition, logistical and national security implications of drone deployment affected this ASA to the point that the campaign to acquire data in Colombia had to be abandoned. Hybrid drones were able to be used based on their greater autonomy and the fact that their dual propulsion systems delivered an



additional layer of insurance against accidents, especially while carrying expensive LiDAR equipment. Good quality fuel was fundamental to safe drone operations, but the available fuel was of low quality, necessitating a controlled emergency landing that damaged the LiDAR and delayed the field campaign for several weeks while a new sensor was flown in and a sound understanding of what caused the emergency was achieved. The situation was further exacerbated by the approach of the rainy season.

Photo B4. Hybrid drone used as unmanned aerial vehicle for data acquisition

Note: The LiDAR sensor can be seen underneath the drone.

### Upscaling Airborne LiDAR Data to the Emission Reductions Program Area

Modeling results showed moderate improvements in performance compared with national forest inventory data and other available biomass datasets. Moreover, it was determined that an essential step in generating model-based biomass estimates is removing model bias using ground data (Málaga Durán 2024).

As is common in biomass maps calibrated for larger areas, estimates for lower biomass areas tend to be overestimated, and those for higher biomass areas tend to be underestimated—likely the effect of signal saturation. The U-net model was chosen because it appears to be less affected by saturation, likely attributable to its ability to account for spatial trends, correlations, and patterns. The U-net results therefore appear to more accurately predict both lower and higher values across the ERP area, and to maintain the textures of the ALS calibration dataset. As in the case of ALS-derived estimates, however, these estimates cannot be used at the pixel level, given substantial levels of uncertainty. Direct use of map-based time-series data to estimate changes in biomass is therefore not advised. Regionally averaged values that account for uncertainties stemming from model propagation, correlation, and autocorrelation are a better option. Additionally, consensus has not yet been reached regarding assessing uncertainties associated with emissions factors sourced from biomass maps.

The fact that the ALS data for both the region of interest and six one-ha plots are nonprobability samples is another source of bias. This means the whole model of inference cannot guarantee lack of bias and therefore

requires additional validation checks. Additionally, the methods are not fully transparent for auditing purposes, and the potential for bias renders the estimated values invalid. Since Mozambique is already undergoing verification of its third monitoring report and its fourth and final monitoring period was scheduled for 2023–2024, updating emissions factors is impractical.





RMSE = 101.2

**Notes:** Mapping estimates lose sensitivity when biomass totals more than 200 MT/Ha. MT = metric tons; ha = hectares; RMSE = root mean square error; NFI = national forest inventory.

Apart from issues of bias in input data, the U-net map loses accuracy when estimating biomass at levels higher than 200 MT/ha (Figure B1), bringing into question the value of these mapping efforts, which seem marginal considering the significant investment required to generate the high-quality field data. The overall cost of producing the ALS-derived region of interest biomass estimates was close to US\$700,000, half of which was subsidized by Sylvera and the rest covered by the World Bank. Although TLS-derived tree-level estimates delivered excellent results, their lack of representativeness makes their utility beyond allometric improvements questionable. The use of airborne LiDAR is classified by CALM as levels 6 and 7 (Table B1). Operational use occurs on a regular basis, but the use of sample-based biomass estimates has been set aside due to bias in biomass maps. Rethinking their use for extrapolation in ways that limit the risk of bias and additional uncertainties is something to consider.

# REFERENCES

- Arrizza, S., S. Marras, R. Ferrara, and G. Pellizzaro. 2024. "Terrestrial Laser Scanning (TLS) for Tree Structure Studies: A Review of Methods for Wood-Leaf Classifications from 3D Point Clouds." Remote Sensing Applications: Society and Environment 36 (November): 101364. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rsase.2024.101364</u>.
- Avitabile, V., R. Pilli, and A. Camia. 2020. The Biomass of European Forests: An Integrated Assessment of Forest Biomass Maps, Field Plots and National Statistics. Joint Research Center Report, European Commission. https://doi.org/10.2760/758855.
- Chave, J., M. Réjou-Méchain, A. Búrquez, E. Chidumayo, M.S. Colgan, W.B. Delitti, A. Duque, T. Eid, P.M.
  Fearnside, R.C. Goodman, M. Henry, A. Martínez-Yrízar, W.A. Mugasha, H.C. Muller-Landau, M. Mencuccini,
  B.W. Nelson, A. Ngomanda, E.M. Nogueira, E. Ortiz-Malavassi, R. Pélissier, P. Ploton, C.M. Ryan, J.G.
  Saldarriaga, and G. Vieilledent, 2014. "Improved Allometric Models to Estimate the Aboveground Biomass of Tropical Trees." *Global Change Biology* 20: 3177–3190. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12629</u>.
- Demol, M., N. Aguilar-Amuchastegui, G. Bernotaite, M. Disney, L. Duncanson, E. Elmendorp, A. Espejo, A. Furey, S. Hancock, J. Hansen, H. Horsley, S. Langa, M. Liang, A. Locke, V. Manjate, F. Mapanga, H. Omidvar, A. Parsons, E. Peneva-Reed, T. Perry, B.L. Puma Vilca, P. Rodríguez-Veiga, C. Sutcliffe, R. Upham, B. de Walque and A. Burt. 2024. "Multi-Scale LiDAR Measurements Suggest Miombo Woodlands Contain Substantially More Carbon than Thought." Communications Earth and Environment 5, Article 366. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s43247-024-01448-x.</u>
- Duncanson, L., J. Armston, M. Disney, V. Avitabile, N. Barbier, K. Calders, S. Carter, J. Chave, M. Herold, N. MacBean, R. McRoberts, D. Minor, K. Paul, M. Réjou-Méchain, S. Roxburgh, M. Williams, C. Albinet, T. Baker, H. Bartholomeus, J.F. Bastin, D. Coomes, T. Crowther, S.J. Davies, Stuart J., S. De Bruin, M. De Kauwe, G. Domke, R. Dubayah, M. Falkowski, L. Fatoyinbo, S. Goetz, P. Jantz, I. Jonckheere, T. Jucker, H. Kay, J. Kellner, N. Labriere, R. Lucas, E. Mitchard, F. Morsdorf, E. Næsset, T. Park, O.L. Phillips, P. Ploton, S. Puliti, S. Quegan, S. Saatchi, C. Schaaf, D. Schepaschenko, K. Scipal, A. Stovall, C. Thiel, M.A. Wulder, F. Camacho, J. Nickeson, M. Román, and H. Margolis. 2021. Aboveground Woody Biomass Product Validation Good Practices Protocol. Committee on Earth Observation Satellites, Working Group on Calibration and Validation, Land Product Validation Subgroup. Version 1.0, edited by L. Duncanson, M. Disney, J. Armston, J. Nickeson, D. Minor, and F. Camacho. <a href="https://lpvs.gsfc.nasa.gov/PDF/CEOS\_WGCV\_LPV\_Biomass\_Protocol\_2021\_V1.0.pdf">https://lpvs.gsfc.nasa.gov/PDF/CEOS\_WGCV\_LPV\_Biomass\_Protocol\_2021\_V1.0.pdf</a>.
- Duque, A., T. Eid, P.M. Fearnside, R.C. Goodman, M. Henry, A. Martínez-Yrízar, W.A. Mugasha, H.C. Muller-Landau, M. Mencuccini, B.W. Nelson, A. Ngomanda, E.M. Nogueira, E. Ortiz-Malavassi, R. Pélissier, P. Ploton, C.M. Ryan, J.G. Saldarriaga, and G. Vieilledent. 2014. "Improved Allometric Models to Estimate the Aboveground Biomass of Tropical Trees." *Global Change Biology* 20: 3177–3190. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12629</u>.
- Kattenborn, T., F. Schiefer, J. Frey, H. Feilhaurer, M. Mahecha, and C. Dormann. 2022. "Spatially Autocorrelated Training and Validation Samples Inflate Performance Assessment of Convolutional Neural Networks." ISPRS Open Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing 5: 100018. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ophoto.2022.100018</u>.

- Krisanski, S., M.S. Taskhiri, S. Gonzalez Aracil, D. Herries, A. Muneri, M.B. Gurung, J.Montgomery, and P. Turner. 2021. "Forest Structural Complexity Tool: An Open Source, Fully-Automated Tool for Measuring Forest Point Clouds." *Remote Sensing* 13 (22): 4677. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/rs13224677</u>.
- Li, Y., M. Li, C. Li, and Z. Liu. 2020. "Forest Aboveground Biomass Estimation Using Landsat 8 and Sentinel-1A Data with Machine Learning Algorithms." *Scientific Reports* 10: 9952. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-67024-3</u>.
- Málaga Durán, N. 2024. "Integrating National Forest Inventories with Global Biomass Maps." PhD Thesis, Wageningen University, the Netherlands. <u>https://doi.org/10.18174/660644</u>.
- Mugasha, W.A., T. Eid, O. Bollandas, R. Malimbwe, S. Chamshama, E. Zahabu, and J. Katani. 2013. "Allometric Models for Prediction of Above- and Belowground Biomass of Trees in the Miombo Woodlands of Tanzania." *Forest Ecology and Management* 310. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2013.08.003</u>.
- Penman, J., M. Gytarsky, T. Hiraishi, T. Krug, D. Kruger, R. Pipatti, L. Buendia, K. Miwa, T. Ngara, K. Tanabe, and
   F. Wagner, eds. 2003. "LUCF Sector Good Practice Guidance." Ch.3. in Good Practice Guidance for Land Use,
   Land-Use Change and Forestry. Vol. 1. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.
- Pham, T.D., N.N. Le, N.T. Ha, L.V. Nguyen, J. Xia, N. Yokoya, T.T. To, H.X. Trinh, L.Q. Kieu, and W. Takeuchi. 2020. "Estimating Mangrove Above-Ground Biomass Using Extreme Gradient Boosting Decision Trees Algorithm with Fused Sentinel-2 and ALOS-2 PALSAR-2 Data in Can GioBiosphere Reserve, Vietnam" Remote Sensing 12 (5): 777. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12050777</u>.
- Phillips, O., T. Baker, T. Feldpausch, and R. Brienen, with contributions from S. Almeida, L. Arroyo, G. Aymard, J. Chave, N. Dávila Cardozo, K.-J. Chao, N. Higuchi, E. Honorio, E. Jiménez, S. L. Lewis, J. Lloyd, G. López-González, Y. Malhi, B. Marimon, A. Monteagudo, D. Neill, S. Patiño, J. Peacock, A. Peña Cruz, M. Cristina Peñuela, G. Pickavance, A. Prieto, C. Quesada, F. Ramírez, M. Schwarz, J. Silva, M. Silveira, G. van der Heijden, and R. Vásquez. 2001. RAINFOR Field Manual for Plot Establishment and Remeasurement. The Royal Society. <u>https://rainfor.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/129/2022/06/RAINFOR\_field\_manual\_EN.pdf</u>.
- Qi, C.R., L. Yi., H. Su., and L.J. Guibas. 2017. "PointNet++: Deep Hierarchical Feature Learning on Point Sets in a Metric Space." arXiv Computer Science, Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition. <u>https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.1706.02413</u>.
- Ronneberger, O., P. Fischer, and T. Brox. 2015. U-net: Convolutional Networks for Biomedical Image Segmentation. In *Medical Image Computing and Computer-Assisted Intervention–MICCAI 2015*. Proceedings of the 18th International Conference, Munich, October 5–9. Part III, edited by N. Navab, J. Hornegger, W. M. Wells, and A. F. Frangi. Springer International Publishing.
- Sexton, J. O., X. P. Song, M. Feng, P. Noojipady, A. Anand, C. Huang, D. Kim, K. Collins, S. Channan, C. DiMiceli, and J. R. Townshend. 2013. "Global, 30-m Resolution Continuous Fields of Tree Cover: Landsat-Based Rescaling of MODIS Vegetation Continuous Fields With LiDAR-Based Estimates of Error." International Journal of Digital Earth 6 (5): 427–448. https://doi.org/10.1080/17538947.2013.786146.

- Singman, P. no date. "What is a data lake?: Data lake vs data warehouse." LakeFS (blog), updated July 19, 2024. https://lakefs.io/blog/data-lakes/.
- Terryn, L., K. Calders, F. Meunier, M. Bauters, P. Boeckx, B. Brede, A. Burt, J. Chave, A. Carlos L. da Costa, B. D'hont, M. Disney, T. Jucker, A. Lau, S. G. W. Laurance, E. Eiji Maeda, P. Meir, S. M. Krishna Moorthy, M. Henrique Nunes, A. Shenkin, T. Sibret, T. E. Verhelst, P. Wilkes, and H. Verbeeck. 2024. "New Tree Height Allometries Derived from Terrestrial Laser Scanning Reveal Substantial Discrepancies with Forest Inventory Methods in Tropical Rainforests." *Global Change Biology* 30 (8): e17473. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.17473.</u>
- World Bank. 2021a. Assessment of Innovative Technologies and their Readiness for Remote Sensing-Based Estimation of Forest Carbon Stocks and Dynamics. Washington, D.C.: World Bank. <u>https://documents1. worldbank.org/curated/en/305171624007704483/pdf/Assessment-of-Innovative-Technologies-and-Their-Readiness-for-Remote-Sensing-Based-Estimation-of-Forest-Carbon-Stocks-and-Dynamics.pdf.</u>
- World Bank. 2021b. Policy Paths towards Second-Generation Measurement, Reporting and Verification (MRV 2.0). Washington, D.C.: World Bank. <u>https://www.forestcarbonpartnership.org/sites/fcp/files/policy\_brief\_r5.pdf</u>.
- Zanne, A., G. Lopez-Gonzalez, D.A. Coomes, J. Ilic, S. Jansen, S. Lewis, R. Miller, N. Swenson, M. Wiemann, and J. Chave. Towards a Worldwide Wood Economics Spectrum (dataset). Dryad. https://doi.org/10.5061/dryad.234.



The World Bank 1818 H Street, NW Washington, DC 20433, USA

www.forestcarbonpartnership.org